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2. Corporate Structure 
 

2.1 State the full corporate name of the Issuer or, if the Issuer is an 
unincorporated entity, the full name under which the entity exists and 
carries on business and the address(es) of the Issuer's head and registered 
office. 

 
The name of the Issuer is Cielo Waste Solutions Corp. The Issuer amended its name 
from Cielo Gold Corp. on August 12th, 2013 to more clearly identify its change of business 
to renewable diesel and waste solutions. 

The registered and records office of the Issuer is 101 – 1500 Howe Street, Vancouver, 
BC V6Z 2N1. 

The Issuer was registered in the Province of Alberta under the New West Partnership 
Trade Agreement on December 2nd, 2013, where its primary operations office is located 
at Bridgeview Place II, Suite 115, 5114-58 St., Red Deer, AB T4N 2L8. 

 
2.2 State the statute under which the Issuer is incorporated or continued or 

organized or, if the Issuer is an unincorporated entity, the laws of the 
jurisdiction or foreign jurisdiction under which the Issuer is established 
and exists.   Describe the substance of any material amendments to the 
articles or other constating or establishing documents of the Issuer. 

 
The Issuer was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act (BC) (the “BCBCA”) 
on February 2nd, 2011 under the name 0901990 B.C. LTD., which name was amended 
to Cielo Gold Corp. on February 8th, 2011, as a wholly-owned subsidiary of AHI for the 
purpose of mineral property acquisition and development. The Issuer and AHI entered 
into an Arrangement Agreement dated March 1st, 2011 and the plan of arrangement, 
under Part 9, Division 5, of the Business Issuers Act (British Columba) became effective 
on June 9th, 2011.  As a condition and result of the plan of arrangement, the Issuer was 
spun out, became a reporting issuer in the province of British Columbia, Alberta and 
Ontario, and its Class A Common Shares were listed and began trading on CSE under 
the trading symbol CMC on August 3rd, 2011. The name of the Issuer was amended on 
August 12th, 2013. 
 
The Issuer has no subsidiaries. 
 
2.3 Describe, by way of a diagram or otherwise, the intercorporate 

relationships among the Issuer and the Issuer's subsidiaries.  For each 
subsidiary state  

 
(a) the percentage of votes attaching to all voting securities of the 

subsidiary represented by voting securities beneficially owned, or 
over which control or direction is exercised, by the Issuer;  
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(b) the place of incorporation or continuance; and 

 
(c) the percentage of each class of restricted shares beneficially owned, 

or over which control or direction is exercised, by the Issuer. 
 

The Issuer has no parent company nor subsidiaries.   
 

2.4 If the Issuer is requalifying following a fundamental change or is proposing 
an acquisition, amalgamation, merger, reorganization or arrangement, 
describe by way of diagram or otherwise these intercorporate relationships 
both before and after the completion of the proposed transaction. 

 
Not applicable. 
 
2.5 Non-corporate Issuers and Issuers incorporated outside of Canada must 

describe how their governing legislation or constating documents differ 
materially from Canadian corporate legislation with respect to the 
corporate governance principles set out in Policy 4. 

 
Not applicable. 
 
3. General Development of the Business 
 
3.1 Describe the general development of the Issuer's business over its three 

most recently completed financial years and any subsequent period.  
Include only major events or conditions that have influenced the general 
development of the Issuer's business.  If the business consists of the 
production or distribution of more than one product or the rendering of 
more than one kind of service, describe the principal products or services.  
Also discuss changes in the business of the Issuer that are expected to 
occur during the current financial year of the Issuer. 

 
Since the fundamental change of business to renewable diesel refining (approved on April 
15, 2014), the Board of Directors and management of the Company has been working 
toward commercializing its technology to allow it to enter the fast and growing waste 
industry by refining landfill, municipal and commercial waste into a high quality renewable 
diesel.  
  
Prior to and during the three most recently completed financial years ended April 30, 
2016, 2017 and 2018, the Issuer has focused on the completion of the development of 
certain intellectual property assets acquired on July 18, 2014 into a proprietary technology 
that will be the basis for the Issuer’s first and future commercial refineries, the first of 
which is currently in the commissioning phase.   
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On June 14, 2016 the Issuer announced that it had signed an exclusive license 
agreement with 1888711 Alberta Inc. (“1888”) to complete the development of the Issuer’s 
renewable diesel technology, which uses landfill waste, tires, plastics, wood shavings and 
paper products to produce renewable Kerosene, highway diesel and naphtha.  The Issuer 
retains the exclusive right to construct and commercialize the refineries and has agreed 
to pay royalties and commissions to 1888 from the commercialization of the technology. 
The Issuer also has a right of first refusal to purchase any rights in the technology it had 
granted to 1888, all intellectually property and any and all patents relating to the 
technology.  Although the Issuer has since resumed making direct payments for costs 
associated with  the construction, completion and commission of the first commercial 
refinery, the agreement remains in place as the rights held by each party remain in place.  
On or about November 1, 2017, the Issuer and 1888 agreed to a restated and amended 
version of the License Agreement, providing for clear terms on which the Issuer is able to 
purchase the rights granted to 1888711 at any time following the 14th day of operations 
of any commercial refineries based on production.   
 
On October 27, 2016, the Issuer announced that it had signed an equipment lease 
agreement and a purchase option agreement to lease a 50 litre per hour thermo catalytic 
depolymerization demonstration plant (the “Demo Plant”) from FS Enterprises Inc. (“FS”). 
The Issuer  had a period of 5 years, subject to extension, during which it could exercise 
the option to purchase the equipment for a purchase price that will be calculated as 
$699,867.53 plus interest accrued at a rate of 18% per annum up to and including the 
purchase date. Until such time that the Issuer would exercise its option and purchases 
the Equipment, this amount was considered secured debt owing by the Issuer to FS, in 
respect of which the Issuer has also signed a General Security Agreement in favour of 
FS to a maximum of $500,000. On or about November 2, 2017, the indebtedness owing 
to FS was repaid in full, the option exercised, and the Issuer acquired ownership of the 
Demo Plant, which was then dismantled and used in part for  the Issuer’s construction of 
the first commercial refinery. 
 
On July 26, 2016, the Issuer announced that it had signed a Synthetic Diesel Purchase 
and Sales Agreement with Elbow River Marketing Ltd., which provides for the exclusive 
marketing, sale and distribution by Elbow River of all the synthetic diesel intended to be 
produced by the Issuer. The Issuer continues to work closely with Elbow River so they 
are aware when the production of high grade renewable diesel will be available for sale.  
On December 21, 2017, the Issuer announced that the commencement date had been 
extended from December 31, 2017 to July 31, 2018, which management anticipates will 
be extended again for a short time while awaiting production to begin.  
 
On November 16, 2016, the Issuer announced that it had signed a Commercial Purchase 
Agreement with XR Resources Inc. to purchase a property located in Aldersyde, Alberta, 
near High River (the “Aldersyde Property”), which was approximately 2.5 acres and on 
which there was an existing bio-diesel refinery. This multi-feedstock processing plant was 
built in 2009 for an approximate capex cost of $10.2 million and was capable of producing 
16 million litres/year of bio-diesel. The aggregate purchase price was $2,300,000, 
consisting of both share and cash consideration.   On April 19, 2017, the Issuer 
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announced that it had completed the purchase of the Aldersyde Property. The Issuer 
began advancing the retrofitting of the existing refinery with the Issuer’s proprietary 
technology to thereafter place the refinery on production, to make high grade renewable 
fuels.  
 
On November 22, 2016, the Issuer announced that it had awarded the construction 
contracts for the retrofitting and completion of its planned purchase of the Aldersyde 
Property.  
 
On July 10, 2017, the Issuer announced that the Issuer had received its Development 
Permit from the MD of Foothills #31. Receipt of the Permit was a major milestone for the 
Issuer, as it was issued subject only to standard terms and conditions, which the Issuer’s 
management are confident can easily be complied with.  
 
On July 17, 2017, Cielo announced the closing of the first tranche of the Issuer’s private 
placement offering of up to $3,000,000 (the “Private Placement”). A total of $850,000 in 
gross proceeds ($270,000 cash and $580,000 as debt settlement) was raised in the first 
tranche by way of the issuance of 5.5 million units (“Units”) at $0.10 per Unit. Each Unit 
is comprised of 1 common share and one ½ warrant, with each full warrant (“Warrant”) 
having an exercise price of $0.20 and an expiration date of twelve months from the date 
of issue of the Units.  The term of the Warrants is subject to earlier expiration if Cielo’s 
Common Shares trade at $0.30 or above for 5 consecutive days at any time after 14 
weeks from the date of issue of the Units, in which case Cielo will have the right to issue 
a notice to the holders of the Warrants that the term has been reduced to 30 days from 
the date of such notice. Any Warrants that have not been exercised on or before such 30-
day period will automatically expire. The unexercised warrants issued under this tranche 
of the Private Placement expired on July 17, 2018. 
 
On July 20, 2017, the Issuer announced the hiring of Kwik-Fab Energy Services to 
dismantle the Demo Plant in Red Deer, AB and transport it 200 km south to LynCorp 
Manufacturing’s state-of-the-art fabrication shop in High River, AB. Parts of the Demo 
Plant were then used in the construction of the Issuer’s first commercial 356 litre per hour 
continuous flow refinery, on the Aldersyde Property.  
 
On July 27, 2017, the Issuer announced the signing of a multi-year feedstock agreement 
with Mountain View Eco Products. This agreement will provide the Issuer, at a fixed cost, 
an ample supply of sawdust and wood shavings to fulfill 100% of the feedstock 
requirements for the Issuer’s first commercial waste to renewable diesel refinery, which 
is currently under construction on the Aldersyde  Property.   
 
On August 31, 2017, the Issuer announced the closing of the second tranche of the 
Private Placement. A total of $550,000 was raised by way of the issuance of 5.5 million 
units (“Units”) at $0.10 per Unit. In connection with the second tranche of the Private 
Placement, the Issuer paid $42,400 in cash commissions and issued 424,000 finder’s 
warrants (the “Finders’ Warrants”). The Finders’ Warrants will be exercisable into 
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common shares for a period of twelve months at an exercise price of $0.10 per common 
share.  
 
On September 22, 2017, the Issuer announced the closing of the third tranche of the 
Private Placement. A total of $883,236 ($550,000 cash and $368,236 as debt settlement) 
was raised in the third tranche by way of the issuance of 8,832,360 units (“Units”) at $0.10 
per Unit. In connection with the third tranche of the Private Placement, the Issuer paid 
$33,600 in cash commissions.  
 
On November 2, 2017, the Company completed a financing arrangement with a private 
Alberta based lender (the “Lender”).  The Issuer and the Lender entered into a loan 
agreement (the “Loan Agreement”), whereby the Lender made available to the Issuer up 
to $3,500,000 (the “Credit Facility”) until September 30, 2018, to be used by the Issuer 
primarily for the conversion of its first commercial refinery on the Aldersyde Property.  The 
Credit Facility is structured as a non-revolving line of credit with security held by the 
Lender over all assets, including the Aldersyde Property and all other real property, of the 
Issuer, subordinating other secured lenders of the Issuer.  The Credit Facility bears simple 
interest at 12% annually. Payments of interest only are payable until September 30th, 
2018, after which time regular payments of principal together with interest will become 
payable until the loan matures in June 2022. The Issuer is able to repay the loan without 
penalty any time after September 30th, 2018.    
 
On November 8, 2017, the Issuer announced the closing of the fourth and final tranche 
of the Private Placement. A total of $990,000 was raised in the third tranche by way of 
the issuance of 9,900,000 units (“Units”) at $0.10 per Unit. In connection with the fourth 
and final tranche of the Private Placement, the Issuer paid $30,400 in cash commissions.  
 
On June 6, 2018, the Issuer announced the implementation of an early warrant exercise 
incentive program (the “Program”) designed to encourage the early exercise of up to 
16,366,180 unlisted warrants. On July 4, the Issuer announced that it had closed the 
Program. The Issuer received gross proceeds pf $2,032,500 as a result of the exercise 
of 10,162,500 warrants. Each participant is entitled to receive $.0875 per warrant 
exercised as a fixed rate royalty which will be paid out prorate over an estimated period 
of two years or less, at the discretion of management. Once production begins, the 
company will allocate 10% of gross sales to the payment of the royalties.   
 
On June 11, 2018, the Issuer announced that it had received its permit from the Ministry 
of Environment and Parks (Alberta) (the “Ministry”) pursuant to the Environmental 
Protection and Enhancement Act, which was required in order to begin operations at its 
first commercial refinery in Aldersyde, AB. 
 
On June 29, 2018, the Issuer announced that, as anticipated in previous news releases, 
the Issuer had initiated the start-up and commissioning of its first commercial refinery in 
Aldersyde, AB, which signifies the transitioning of the refinery from the construction stage 
to the commercial operation stage.  The Issuer is currently progressing through the 
commissioning  
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The Issuer has planned two phases (Phases I and II) for reaching optimal production 
output in creating a blueprint for its refineries.  The Issuer is currently in the commissioning 
stage of Phase I.  The Issuer’s initial plan for Phase I was to build a refinery targeting a 
nominal production rate of 356 litres per hour and, for Phase II, the Issuer had considered 
building a second refinery, targeting a production rate of 1824 litres per hour.  As the 
Issuer progresses through this Phase I commissioning stage, modifications to both design 
and construction intended to improve the processes continue to be made.  Continued 
improvements have increased targeted outputs from 356 litres per hour to between 500 
and 1,000 litres per hour.  With respect to Phase II, management has determined that it 
would be more efficient to upgrade the current Refinery to a greater capacity, targeting 
outputs of between 1,800 and 2,000 litres per hour, such that all Cielo refineries would 
produce at least at this rate at a minimum.     
 
For further details of the terms and conditions of the above-referenced agreements, the 
agreement can be reviewed on SEDAR.  
 
3.2 Disclose: 
 

(1) (a) any significant acquisition completed by the Issuer or any  
significant probable acquisition proposed by the Issuer, for 
which financial statements would be required under National 
Instrument 41-101 General Prospectus Requirements if this 
Listing Statement were a prospectus; and 

 
(b) any significant disposition completed by the Issuer during the 

most recently completed financial year or the current financial 
year for which pro forma financial statements would be required 
under National Instrument 41-101 General Prospectus 
Requirements if this Listing Statement were a prospectus.  

 
Not applicable.  
 

(2)  Under paragraph (1) include particulars of 
 

(a) the nature of the assets acquired or disposed of or to be acquired 
or disposed of; 

 
(b) the actual or proposed date of each significant acquisition or 

significant disposition; 
 

(c) the consideration, both monetary and non-monetary paid, or to 
be paid, to or by the Issuer; 

 
(d) any material obligations that must be complied with to keep any 

significant acquisition or significant disposition agreement in 
good standing; 
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(e) the effect of the significant acquisition or significant disposition 

on the operating results and financial position of the Issuer; 
 

(f) any valuation opinion obtained within the last 12 months required 
under Canadian securities legislation, a directive of a Canadian 
securities regulatory authority, or a requirement of a Canadian 
stock exchange or other Canadian market to support the value of 
the consideration received or paid by the Issuer or any of its 
subsidiaries for the assets, including the name of the author, the 
date of the opinion, the assets to which the opinion relates and 
the value attributed to the assets; and 

 
(g) whether the transaction is with a Related Party of the Issuer and 

if so, disclose the identity of the other parties and the relationship 
of the other parties to the Issuer. 

 
Not applicable. 
 
3.3 Discuss any trend, commitment, event or uncertainty that is both presently 

known to management and reasonably expected to have a material effect 
on the Issuer's business, financial condition or results of operations, 
providing forward-looking information based on the Issuer's expectations 
as of the date of the Listing Statement. 

 
Landfills, that are projected to double in size over the next 7 years, are one of the world’s 
leading contributors to Green House Gas emissions. Management believes that the 
proprietary technology that the Issuer will be using in its refineries can potentially resolve 
this crisis, on a cost-effective basis, by converting multiple different waste feedstocks into 
high grade renewable diesel. 
 
The Issuer is focused on building green refineries, firstly in Alberta. Every litre of diesel 
fuel currently sold at the pump in Canada is required by law to have a minimum percent 
biofuel/renewable fuel content. The federal minimum biofuel/renewable content is 2% and 
five provinces have a further requirement for an additional 2% to 4%. This mandated 
minimum requirement works out to an approximate annual demand of 650 million litres 
per year of biofuel/renewable fuel, which is currently imported from Singapore, Brazil and 
Finland. Almost every developed country has a federal mandate to blend 
biodiesel/renewable diesel with every litre of conventional diesel produced. Europe, Brazil 
and the U.S.A have mandated minimum requirements - i.e. California’s mandate is 10%. 
Canadian biodiesel producers sell into the California and Florida marketplaces as they 
can receive REN credits, which make them more profitable.  
 
About 400M litres per year (“lpy”) of biofuels are produced in Canada, however 380M lpy 
are exported to the U.S. and other countries because their production costs are either too 
high to make money without subsidies in Canada and/or their biofuel does not work in 
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Canada’s winter environment. Consequently, almost all the biofuels mandated to be 
blended in Canada are imported at a recent price of ~$1.60/l. The Issuer is forecasting 
that its high grade renewable diesel will cost ~$0.49/l to produce and will work at 
temperatures down to -70°C. The mandated market for renewable/biodiesel, in Canada 
alone, is currently about 650M lpy which equates to ~43 Cielo refineries, excluding an 
identified massive demand for production of renewable aviation fuel.  
 
It is anticipated that the Issuer’s renewable diesel will allow the Issuer to earn a premium 
over biodiesel. It is higher grade, has very little water content, resulting in a longer shelf 
life, and will be usable year-round, including in cold weather climates. The Issuer’s 
feedstock will be garbage-derived feedstocks such as sorted municipal waste, plastics, 
wood waste, tires, agriculture wastes and other cellulous materials with low or negative 
costs versus biodiesel that uses food feedstocks and other costly feedstocks. 
 
The Issuer believes that it is on track to produce a renewable diesel product that emits 
less carbon than fossil diesel fuel and its primary feedstock will be waste materials that 
will eliminate huge quantities of municipal garbage from the global waste stream. 
 
4 Narrative Description of the Business 
 
4.1 General  
 

(1) Describe the business of the Issuer with reference to the reportable 
operating segments as defined in the Handbook and the Issuer's 
business in general.  Include the following for each reportable 
operating segment of the Issuer: 

 
(a) state the business objectives that the Issuer expects to 

accomplish in the forthcoming 12-month period; 

The main objective for the Issuer to date has been the construction and commissioning 
of its first commercial refinery.  In the forthcoming 12-month period, the Issuer intends to 
complete the commissioning process on its first commercial refinery.  The Issuer is 
currently in the Phase I commissioning stage for its first commercial refinery, which was 
initially targeted to produce at a rate of 356 litres per hour, and has at or around the date 
of this Listing Statement been increased to a target of 500 – 1,000 litres per hour.  
Following the completion of this commissioning stage of Phase I, the Issuer will upgrade 
the refinery to produce at a target rate of approximately 1,800 – 2,000 litres per hour, 
which will be the blueprint for future refineries.  All of the Issuer’s refineries will be then 
produce at this higher target rate at a minimum. current/initial refinery is located in 
Aldersyde, AB.  Management anticipates the next refineries to be built in Edmonton, AB, 
for which it intends to begin the permit process during the next 12 month period as well.  
 
Further to the foregoing development, construction, commissioning, etc., also during the 
next 12 months, management expects it will: hire/engage additional operational staff; 
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increase its presence at trade shows and conventions; and explore potential opportunities 
as and when available with third parties. 
 

(b) describe each significant event or milestone that must occur for 
the business objectives in (a) to be accomplished and state the 
specific time period in which each event is expected to occur and 
the costs related to each event; 

 
The Issuer must first complete the commissioning stage of Phase I to produce  at a target 
rate of 500 – 1000 litres per hour (originally targeted at 356 litres per hour).  Once this is 
complete, or close to complete, production can begin.   
 
The litres Issuer has already begun working on improvements to increase target 
production to 1,800 – 2,000 litres per hour.   
 
The current commissioning stage of Phase I is expected to be completed by early to mid 
fall 2018.  Commissioning for Phase II, once the refinery is upgraded to a target rate of 
1,800 – 2,000 litres per hours, is anticipated to be completed by the spring of 2019. 
 
The Issuer has obtained sufficient funds to complete the current commissioning stage of 
Phase I.  To upgrade and commission the refinery to produce at a target rate of 1,800 – 
2,000 litres per hour for Phase II, management of the Issuer anticipates requiring 
approximately an additional $10,000,000, however the budget is to be determined.   

 
 
(c) disclose the total funds available to the Issuer and the following 

breakdown of those funds: 
 

(i) the estimated consolidated working capital (deficiency) as of 
the most recent month end prior to filing the Listing 
Statement, and 

As at April 30, 2018, the Issuer had $560,891 cash, and working capital deficit of 
$965,274.  The financial statements for the most recent month prior to the filing of the 
Listing Statement have not yet been completed.   
 

(ii) the total other funds, and the sources of such funds, 
available to be used to achieve the objectives and 
milestones set out in paragraphs (a) and (b); and 

 
Through the issuance of units pursuant to the Private Placement, the obtaining of the 
Credit Facility of up to $3,500,000, and the closing of its Early Warrant Exercise Incentive 
Program (see section 3.1), the Issuer has sufficient funds to complete the commissioning 
stage for Phase I.  To proceed with a larger capacity, the Issuer will need to seek out 
financing alternatives. 
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(d) describe in reasonable detail and, if appropriate, using tabular 

form, each of the principal purposes, with approximate amounts, 
for which the funds available described under the preceding 
paragraph will be used by the Issuer. 

 
The Issuer is currently completing the commissioning stage of Phase I for its first  
continuous flow refinery, initially targeted to produce at a rate of 356 litres per hour, which 
has been increased to 500 – 1,000 litres per hour. The Issuer has sufficient funds of 
approximately $280,000.00 to complete this.  Further funding will be required to proceed 
with  the upgrades and commissioning stage of Phase II to produce at a rate of 1,800 – 
2,000 litres per hour.  
 

(2) For principal products or services describe: 
 

a) the methods of their distribution and their principal markets; 
 
Not applicable. 

 
b) as dollar amounts or as percentages, for each of the two most 

recently completed financial years, the revenues for each category 
of principal products or services that accounted for 15 per cent or 
more of total consolidated revenues for the applicable financial 
year derived from: 

(i) sales or transfers to joint ventures in which your company is 
a participant or to entities in which your company has an 
investment accounted for by the equity method, 

(ii) sales to customers, other than those referred to in clause (i), 
outside the consolidated entity,  

(iii) sales or transfers to controlling shareholders; and 

(iv)  sales or transfers to investees. 

Not applicable. 
 

c) if not fully developed, the stage of development of the principal 
products or services and, if the products are not at the commercial 
production stage, 

 
(i) the timing and stage of research and development programs, 
 
(ii) the major components of the proposed programs, including 

an estimate of anticipated costs, 
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(iii) whether the Issuer is conducting its own research and 

development, is subcontracting out the research and 
development or is using a combination of those methods, 
and 

 
(iv) the additional steps required to reach commercial production 

and an estimate of costs and timing. 
 
See #4.1(1) to the extent applicable.  
 

(3) Concerning production and sales, disclose: 
 

a) the actual or proposed method of production of products and if the 
Issuer provides services, the actual or proposed method of 
providing services; 

 
b) the payment terms, expiration dates and terms of any renewal 

options of any material leases or mortgages, whether they are in 
good standing and, if applicable, that the landlord or mortgagee is 
a Related Person of the Issuer; 

 
c) specialized skill and knowledge requirements and the extent that 

the skill and knowledge are available to the Issuer; 
 

d) the sources, pricing and availability of raw materials, component 
parts or finished products; 

 
e) the importance, duration and effect on the segment of identifiable 

intangible properties such as brand names, circulation lists, 
copyrights, franchises, licences, patents, software, subscription 
lists and trademarks; 

 
f) the extent to which the business of the segment is cyclical or 

seasonal; 
 

g) a description of any aspect of the Issuer's business that may be 
affected in the 12 months following the date of the Listing 
Statement by renegotiation or termination of contracts or sub-
contracts and the likely effect; 

 
h) the financial and operational effects of environmental protection 

requirements on the capital expenditures, earnings and 
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competitive position of the Issuer in the current financial year and 
the expected effect, on future years; 

 
i) the number of employees, as at the most recent financial year end 

or as an average over that year, whichever is more relevant; 
 
j) any risks associated with foreign operations of the Issuer and any 

dependence of the segments upon the foreign operations; 
 
k) a description of any contract upon which your company's business 

is substantially dependent, such as a contract to sell the major part 
of your company's products or services or to purchase the major 
part of your company's requirements for goods, services or raw 
materials, or any franchise or licence or other agreement to use a 
patent, formula, trade secret, process or trade name upon which 
your company's business depends; 

 
l) a description of any aspect of your company's business that you 

reasonably expect to be affected in the current financial year by 
renegotiation or termination of contracts or sub-contracts, and the 
likely effect. 

 
Not applicable. 
 

(4) Describe the competitive conditions in the principal markets and 
geographic areas in which the Issuer operates, including, if reasonably 
possible, an assessment of the Issuer's competitive position. 

 
There are several factors that will affect the competitive conditions facing the Issuer.   
 
The factors that are in the Issuer's favour are: 
 

• World energy demands are on the rise. An outcry to reduce our demand on a 
declining world supply of  crude oil and a call for mandates to use renewable fuels 
from Federal, Provincial and world governments for greener energy make this the 
right time for “Green” diesel production.  

• Currently the world generates 2.2 billion tonnes of garbage annually and that 
number is expected to increase to 5.6 billion tonnes by 2025.  

• As a result of extensive research, management understands that US, Canadian 
and most European governments require a minimum of 2% - 10% of diesel fuels 
to be comprised of renewable diesel.   In Canada, it is 2% minimum by the federal 
government and in most provinces and an additional 2% has been added to the 
federal mandate, with some provinces increasing their requirement to 5% 
minimum blend, making a total blend of 7%.  In USA it is 2-5% depending on State, 
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with California seeking to increase to 10%.  In Europe it is 5% for automotive and 
10% for airlines. 

o 2015 bio-diesel requirements for Western Canada were 196 million litres. 
o 2015 bio-diesel production in Western Canada was reported to be 42-Million 

litres 
o The remaining 89.9% had to be imported from abroad. 

• The Issuer is an early entrant in the waste to fuel business. 
• The economic model for renewable diesel production favours small-scale 

production involving a significant smaller capital investment compared to 
competitors. 

• The Issuer has a patentable technology. 
• The Issuer has a strategic location. 
• The Issuer has access to diesel buyers (off-takers). 
• The Issuer has accessibility to virtually unlimited long-term feedstocks locally and 

world-wide. 
• There is a large untouched market opportunity for sales of renewable diesel. 
• Relatively small size of the Issuer lowers capex and development risks. 
• Environmental green merit by reducing the carbon foot print of refineries and 

landfills 
• Renewable fuel industry continues to offer subsidies and strong pricing rates. 
• Fluctuations in recent years in the prices paid for feedstocks for competitors using 

agriculture crops, animal tallows and yellow grease, will have weakened the 
financial strength of some bio-diesel companies, and these conditions can result 
in opportunities for the Issuer to acquire assets or to participate in joint venture 
activities. 

In terms of competitors, management believes that Biox Corporation (“BIOX”) is the 
Issuer’s largest Canadian competitor for fuels. BIOX is a biodiesel company with two 
biodiesel plants in Ontario and in a joint venture partnership with World Energy, a 90M 
US Gallon plant in Houston.   Management believes that almost all of Biox fuels are sold 
for blending requirements in the USA. 
 
In the Canadian market, the Issuer will import approximately 665 million litres this year, 
which management believes represents approximately 98% of Canadian needs. The 
imports will come mostly from Singapore, Brazil and Finland, in the opinion of 
management giving the Issuer a significant advantage on freight costs.  
 

(5) With respect to lending operations of an Issuer's business, describe the 
investment policies and lending and investment restrictions. 

 
Not applicable. 
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(6) Disclose the nature and results of any bankruptcy, or any receivership 

or similar proceedings against the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries or 
any voluntary bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceedings by the 
Issuer or any of its subsidiaries, within the three most recently 
completed financial years or the current financial year. 

 
The Issuer has not been the subject of any bankruptcy or any receivership or similar 
proceedings against the Issuer or its subsidiary or any voluntary bankruptcy, receivership 
or similar proceedings by the Issuer or its subsidiary, within the three most recently 
completed financial years or the current financial year.  
 

(7) Disclose the nature and results of any material restructuring transaction 
of the Issuer within the three most recently completed financial years or 
completed during or proposed for the current financial year. 

Not applicable. 

(8) If the Issuer has implemented social or environmental policies that are 
fundamental to the Issuer’s operations, such as policies regarding the 
Issuer’s relationship with the environment or with the communities in 
which the Issuer does business, or human rights policies, describe 
them and the steps the Issuer has taken to implement them. 

While no formal policies are currently in place as the Issuer focuses on building the first 
commercial refineries, as the Issuer considers itself a “green” company whose technology 
is intended to have a significant positive impact on the environment, all steps taken by 
the Issuer are done with this purpose and goal in mind. 

Companies with Asset-backed Securities Outstanding 
 
Not applicable.  
 
4.3 For Issuers with a mineral project, disclose and insert here the information 

required by Appendix A for each property material to the Issuer. 
 
Not applicable. 
 
4.4 For Issuers with Oil and Gas Operations disclose and insert here the 

information required by Appendix B (in tabular form, if appropriate). 
 
Not applicable. 
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5. Selected Consolidated Financial Information  
 
5.1 Annual Information — Provide the following financial data for the Issuer in 

summary form for each of the last three completed financial years and any 
period subsequent to the most recent financial year end for which financial 
statements have been prepared, accompanied by a discussion of the 
factors affecting the comparability of the data, including discontinued 
operations, changes in accounting policies, significant acquisitions or 
significant dispositions and major changes in the direction of the Issuer's 
business: 

 
(a) net sales or total revenues; 

 
(b) income from continuing operations, in total and on a per share basis 

and fully diluted per share basis, calculated in accordance with the 
Handbook; 

 
(c) net income or loss, in total and on a per share and fully diluted per 

share basis, calculated in accordance with the Handbook; 
 

(d) total assets; 
 

(e) total long-term financial liabilities as defined in the Handbook; 
 

(f) cash dividends declared per share for each class of share; and 
 
(g) such other information as would enhance an investor’s understanding 

of the Issuer’s financial condition and results of operations and would 
highlight other trends in financial condition and results of operations. 

 
The Issuer’s year end is April 30. The following information for the financial years ended 
April 30, 2016, 2017 and 2018 is extracted from the Issuer’s audited financial statements 
and should be read in conjunction with those statements. The audited financial 
statements of the Issuer for the financial years ended April 30, 2017, 2016 and 2015, are 
included in this Updated Listing Statement and incorporated herein by reference. The 
audited financial statements of the Issuer for the financial years ended April 30, 2016, 
2017 and 2018, have also been posted to the Listings Disclosure Hall on the CSE website 
(www.thecse.com), filed with regulators and are available for viewing with the Issuer’s 
other public disclosure documents at the SEDAR website (www.sedar.com).  
 
The following information should be read in conjunction with the referenced financial 
statements and the notes thereto.  
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Selected Annual Information  
 
(Information extracted from the Issuer’s audited financial statements)  
 

 Fiscal Year 
ended April 
30, 2018 
(audited) 

Fiscal Year 
ended April 
30, 2017 
(audited) 

Fiscal Year 
ended April 
30, 2016 
(audited) 

 $ $ $ 
Operating Data:    
Total Revenue 0 0 0 
Total Expenses (6,261,666) (759,322) (617,869) 
Income (Loss) from 
Operations (6,425,689) (497,305) (191,744) 

Net Income (Loss) for the 
Period (6,425,689) (497,305) (191,744) 

Loss per Share, Basic and 
Diluted (0.051) (0.005) (0.03) 

Dividends Nil Nil Nil 
    
Balance Sheet Data:    
Total Assets 5,472,723 3,192,667 24,063 
Total Long-Term Liabilities 5,108,921 4,658,727 1,758,266 

 
 
5.2 Quarterly Information — For each of the eight most recently completed 

quarters ending at the end of the most recently completed financial year, 
provide the information required in paragraphs (a), (b) and (b) of Section 
5.1. 

 
The following is a summary of selected quarterly information that has been derived from 
the audited financial statements of the Issuer. This summary should be read in 
conjunction with audited financial statements of the Issuer as contained in the public 
record. 
 

Quarterly 
Financial 
Information 

30-Apr  Jan 31 31-Oct 31-Jul 30-Apr  Jan 31 31-Oct 31-Jul 

  2018 2018 2017 2017 2017 2017 2016 2016 
Operating 
data: $ $  $ $ $ $ $ 

Total revenue NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL   NIL   NIL   NIL 
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Operating 
Expenses 

338,248 5,026,990 670,147 226,281 534,907 62,137 38,317 123,961 

         

Net Earnings 
(loss)  

(338,462) (5,015,078) (812,249) (259,900) (272,890) (62,137) (38,317) (123,961) 

Balance sheet 
data: 

        

Total assets 5,472,723 4,449,278 3,940,494 3,174,832 3,192,667 1,079,725 759,209 18,958 

Total current 
liabilities 

1,734,111 1,137,352 1,579,072 1,568,829 2,029,928 2,396,706 2,331,838 1,496,661 

 
5.3 Dividends – disclose: 
 

(a) any restriction that could prevent the Issuer from paying dividends; 
and 

 
(b) the Issuer's dividend policy and, if a decision has been made to 

change the dividend policy, the intended change in dividend 
policy. 

The Issuer has not declared nor paid any dividends and does not foresee the declaration 
or payment of dividends in the near future. Any decision to pay dividends on its shares 
will be made by the Board of Directors on the basis of the Issuer’s earnings, financial 
requirements and other conditions existing at such future time. There are no restrictions 
that would prevent the Issuer from paying dividends.  
 
5.4 Foreign GAAP — An Issuer may present the selected consolidated 

financial information required in this section on the basis of foreign GAAP 
if: 

 
(a) the Issuer's primary financial statements have been prepared using 

foreign GAAP; and 
 

(b) if the Issuer is required under applicable securities legislation to have 
reconciled its financial statements to Canadian GAAP at the time of 
filing its financial statements or the Issuer has otherwise done so, a 
cross reference to the notes to the financial statements containing 
the reconciliation of the financial statements to Canadian GAAP is 
included. 

 
Not applicable. 
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6. Management's Discussion and Analysis 
 
Annual MD&A – 6.1 – 6.14 
 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of the Issuer for the financial years ended April 
30, 2017 and 2018 has been posted to the Listings Disclosure Hall on the CSE website 
(www.thecse.com), filed with regulators and is available for viewing with the Issuer’s other 
public disclosure documents at the SEDAR website (www.sedar.com), and is attached to 
this Updated Listing Statement under Schedule I.  
 
 
Interim MD&A – 6.15 – 6.21 
 
The Issuer’s first quarter subsequent to the most recently completed financial year ended 
April 30, 2018 was July 31, 2018. The Issuer’s interim Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis for the quarter ended July 31, 2018 has not yet been completed. 
 
7. Market for Securities 
 
7.1 Identify the exchange(s) and quotation and trade reporting system(s) on 

which the Issuer's securities are listed and posted for trading or quoted. 
 
The Issuer’s common shares trade on the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CSE”) under 
the Symbol CMC. 
 
8. Consolidated Capitalization 
 
8.1 Describe any material change in, and the effect of the material change on, 

the share and loan capital of the Issuer, on a consolidated basis, since the 
date of the comparative financial statements for the Issuer's most recently 
completed financial year contained in the Listing Statement. 

 
The date of the financial statements for the Issuer’s most recently completed financial 
year contained in the Listing Statement is August 20th, 2018. There has been no material 
change in the loan capital of the Issuer since the date of the consolidated financial 
statements of the Issuer’s most recently completed financial year ended April 30, 2018.  
Since April 30, 2018, 477,363 common shares have been issued pursuant to settlement 
of indebtedness and 1,511,500 common shares have been issued as a result of the 
exercise of warrants. 
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9. Options to Purchase Securities 
 
9.1 State, in tabular form, as at a specified date not more than 30 days before 

the date of the Listing Statement, information as to options to purchase 
securities of the Issuer or a subsidiary of the Issuer that are held by: 

 
(a) all executive officers and past executive officers of the Issuer as a 

group and all directors and past directors of the Issuer who are not 
also executive officers as a group, indicating the aggregate number of 
executive officers and the aggregate number of directors to whom the 
information applies, without naming them; 

 
(b) all executive officers and past executive officers of all subsidiaries of 

the Issuer as a group and all directors and past directors of those 
subsidiaries who are not also executive officers of the subsidiary as a 
group, in each case, without naming them and excluding individuals 
referred to in paragraph (a), indicating the aggregate number of 
executive officers and the aggregate number of directors to whom the 
information applies; 

 
(c) all other employees and past employees of the Issuer as a group, 

without naming them; 
 

(d) all other employees and past employees of subsidiaries of the Issuer 
as a group, without naming them;  

 
(e) all consultants of the Issuer as a group, without naming them; and 

 
(a) any other person or company, including the underwriter, naming each 

person or company. 
 
Options and RSUs: 
 
The Issuer adopted an incentive stock option plan (the "Option Plan"), which provides 
that the Board of Directors of the Issuer may from time to time, in its discretion, and in 
accordance with the applicable stock exchange’s requirements, grant to directors, 
officers, employees and consultants to the Issuer, non-transferable options to purchase 
common shares of the Issuer.  Following the Annual General and Special Meeting of the 
shareholders of the Issuer held on October 26, 2017 (the “AGSM”), pursuant to the Option 
Plan, the number of common shares reserved for issuance will not exceed 9.5% of the 
issued and outstanding common shares of the Issuer at the time of approval of the Option 
Plan.  Options granted under the Option Plan can have a maximum exercise term of 5 
years from the date of grant.  Vesting terms will be determined at the time of grant by the 
Board of Directors.   
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Following the AGSM, the Issuer adopted a Restricted Share Unit plan (the “RSU Plan”), 
which provides that the Board of Directors of the Issuer may from time to time, in its 
discretion, and in accordance with the applicable stock exchange’s requirements, grant 
to directors, officers, employees and consultants to the Issuer, non-transferable 
Restricted Share Units (“RSUs”).  The maximum number of RSUs will not exceed 6.3% 
of the issued and outstanding common shares of the Issuer at the time of approval of  
the RSU Plan.  Vesting terms will be determined at the time of grant by the Board of 
Directors but will in no event exceed three (3) years. 
 
On November 7, 2016, the Company granted 5,500,000 stock options to employees, 
consultants, directors and officers under its Stock Option Plan at an exercise price of 
$0.10 per share exercisable at any time on or before November 7, 2019.  
 
On January 12, 2018, the Company granted 4,740,000 stock options to employees, 
consultants, directors and officers under its Stock Option Plan at an exercise price of 
$0.25 per share exercisable at any time on or before January 12, 2021.  
 
The table below sets out the stock options and RSUs issued to directors, employees and 
consultants of the Issuer which are outstanding as at the date of this Listing Statement. 

 
 
 
 
 

Category 
 

Date of Grant 
 

Aggregate Options 
or RSUs Granted 
and Outstanding 

 

 
Exercise 

Price 

 
Expiry Date 

Options held by 
directors and 
officers 

November 7, 2016 2,000,000 $0.10 November 7, 2019 

January 12, 2018 4,370,000 $0.25 January 12, 2021 

Options held by 
employees and 
consultants 

November 7, 2016 3,500,000 $0.10 November 7, 2019 

January 12, 2018 370,000 $0.25 January 12, 2021 

RSUs held by 
directors and 
officers 

January 12, 2018 4,500,000 N/A January 12, 2020 or 
2021 

RSUs held by 
employees and 
consultants 

January 12, 2018 250,000 N/A January 12, 2021 or 
2021 

 Total Options 10,240,000   
 Total RSUs 4,750,000   
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10. Description of the Securities 
 
10.1 General - State the description or the designation of each class of equity 

securities and describe all material attributes and characteristics, including: 
 

a) dividend rights; 

b) voting rights; 

c) rights upon dissolution or winding-up; 

d) pre-emptive rights; 

e) conversion or exchange rights; 

f) redemption, retraction, purchase for cancellation or surrender 

provisions, 

g) sinking or purchase fund provisions; 

h) provisions permitting or restricting the issuance of additional 

securities and any other material restrictions; and 

i) provisions requiring a securityholder to contribute additional capital. 

The authorized capital of the Issuer currently consists of an unlimited number of Class A 
Common Shares and an unlimited number of Class B Preferred Shares.  No shares of 
any other class are authorized for issuance.  The Class A Common Share currently trade 
on the CSE under the ticker symbol “CMC”. 
 
Class A Common Shares 
 
DIVIDENDS.  The holders of Class A Common Shares shall be entitled to receive such 
dividends as the Board of Directors, in their discretion, may declare. 
 
RETURN OF CAPITAL.  In the event of a liquidation, dissolution, or winding-up of the 
Issuer, either voluntarily or involuntarily, or other distribution of assets or property of the 
Issuer amongst its shareholders for the purpose of winding up its affairs or for any other 
purpose as considered appropriate by the Board of Directors, the holders of Class A 
Common Shares will be entitled to participate in the remaining assets and property of the 
Issuer. 
 
VOTING RIGHTS.  Subject to applicable corporate and securities laws, the registered 
holder of Class A Common Shares shall be entitled to receive notice of and attend all 
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meetings of shareholders of the Issuer and shall, in respect of each Class A Common 
Share so held, be entitled to one vote at any such meeting or to consent to a resolution 
in writing to be signed by all or any of the shareholders of the Issuer except as otherwise 
expressly provided herein.  
 
The rights, restrictions, conditions, and limitations attached or related to the Class B 
Preferred Shares are as follows: 
 
Class B Preferred Shares 
 
DIVIDENDS.  The holders of Class B Preferred Shares shall be entitled to receive such 
dividends as the Board of Directors, in their discretion, may declare, in preference to the 
holders of the Class A Common Shares and the holders of any other shares ranking junior 
to the Class B Preferred Shares as may be fixed in accordance with the Articles of the 
Issuer 
 
RETURN OF CAPITAL.  Unless subordinated in priority by the special rights and 
restrictions attached to any particular series of Class B Preferred Shares, and subject to 
applicable corporate and securities laws, the holders of Class B Preferred Shares as a 
class shall be entitled, in the event of a liquidation, dissolution, or winding-up of the Issuer, 
either voluntarily or involuntarily, or other distribution of assets or property of the Issuer 
amongst its shareholders for the purpose of winding up its affairs or for any other purpose 
as considered appropriate by the Board of Directors, to receive in priority before any 
distributed shall be made to the holders of Class A Common Shares or any other shares 
of the Issuer ranking junior to the Class B Preferred Shares with respect to repayment of 
capital, the amount paid up with respect to each Class B Preferred Share held by each 
holder respectively together with the premium (if any) payable respectively on redemption 
of each such series of Class B Preferred Shares and all accrued and unpaid dividends (if 
any) which, for such purpose, shall be calculated as if such dividends were accruing on 
a day-to-day basis up to the date of such distribution.  
 
VOTING RIGHTS.  Subject to applicable corporate and securities laws, ]except as 
hereinafter referred to or as required by law or in accordance with any voting rights which 
may from time to time be attached to any series of Class B Preferred Shares, the holders 
of Class B Preferred Shares as a class shall not be entitled as such to receive notice of, 
to attend or to vote at any meeting of the shareholders of the Issuer; provided that the 
holders of Class B Preferred Shares as a class shall be entitled to notice of meetings of 
shareholders called for the purpose of authorizing the dissolution of the Issuer or the sale 
of its undertaking or a substantial part thereof, or as required by applicable corporate 
laws. 
 
The following table sets forth the capitalization of the Issuer as at the dates indicated and 
is obtained from information contained in the audited financial statements of the Issuer 
which are included in this Listing Statement: 
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10.2 Debt securities - If debt securities are being listed, describe all material 

attributes and characteristics of the indebtedness and the security, if any, 
for the debt, including: 

 
(a) provisions for interest rate, maturity and premium, if any; 

 
(b) conversion or exchange rights; 

 
(c) redemption, retraction, purchase for cancellation or surrender 

provisions, 
 

(d) sinking or purchase fund provisions; 
 

(e) the nature and priority of any security for the debt securities, briefly 
identifying the principal properties subject to lien or charge; 

 
(f) provisions permitting or restricting the issuance of additional 

securities, the incurring of additional indebtedness and other material 
negative covenants, including restrictions against payment of 
dividends and restrictions against giving security on the assets of the 
Issuer or its subsidiaries, and provisions as to the release or 
substitution of assets securing the debt securities; 

 
(g) the name of the trustee under any indenture relating to the Issuer and 

 
(h) any financial arrangements between the Issuer and any of its affiliates 

or among its affiliates that could affect the security for the 
indebtedness. 

 
Not applicable. 
 
10.4 Other securities - If securities other than equity securities or debt securities 

are being listed, describe fully the material attributes and characteristics of 
those securities. 

 
Not applicable.  

      
  Authorized  Outstanding at August 20, 

2018 
 

Class A Common 
Shares 

 Unlimited  154,304,427 shares  

Class B Preferred 
Shares 

 Unlimited  NIL  
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10.5 Modification of terms: 
 

(a) describe provisions about the modification, amendment or variation 
of any rights attached to the securities being listed; and 

 
(b) if the rights of holders of securities may be modified otherwise than in 

accordance with the provisions attached to the securities or the 
provisions of the governing statute relating to the securities, explain 
briefly. 

 
Not applicable.   

10.6 Other attributes: 

 (a) if the rights attaching to the securities being listed are materially 
limited or qualified by the rights of any other class of securities, or if 
any other class of securities ranks ahead of or equally with the 
securities being listed, include information about the other securities 
that will enable investors to understand the rights attaching to the 
securities being listed; and 

 (b) if securities of the class being listed may be partially redeemed or 
repurchased, state the manner of selecting the securities to be 
redeemed or repurchased. 

Not applicable. 
 
10.7 Prior Sales - State the prices at which securities of the same class as the 

securities to be listed have been sold within the 12 months before the date 
of the Listing Statement, or are to be sold, by the Issuer or any Related 
Person and the number of securities of the class sold or to be sold at each 
price. 

 
The following table sets out the Class A Common Shares issued pursuant to private 
placements, debt settlements or warrant exercises in the 12-month period prior to the 
date of this Listing Statement. In addition, over the 12-month period, 1,747,916 Class A 
Common Shares were issued as a result of the conversion of previously issued 
convertible debentures and 11,674,000 Class A Common Shares were issued as a result 
of the exercise of warrants (including 24,000 broker/finder warrants). 
 

 
Date of Issue 

 
Securities Issued 

 
Price 
Per 
Secur
ity 

 
Purpose of Issue 
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10.8 Stock Exchange Price: 
 

a) if shares of the same class as the shares to be listed were or are listed 
on a Canadian stock exchange or traded on a Canadian market, 
provide the price ranges and volume traded on the Canadian stock 
exchange or market on which the greatest volume of trading generally 
occurs; 

 
b) if shares of the same class as the shares to be listed were or are not 

listed on a Canadian stock exchange or traded on a Canadian market, 
provide the price ranges and volume traded on the foreign stock 
exchange or market on which the greatest volume of trading generally 
occurs; and 

 
c) information is to be provided on a monthly basis for each month or, if 

applicable, part month, of the current quarter and the immediately 
preceding quarter and on a quarterly basis for the next preceding 
seven quarters. 

 
As at April 30, 2018, the Issuer’s most recently completed financial year end, the common 
shares of the Issuer were listed and posted for trading on the CSE under the symbol 
“CMC”. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

August 31, 2017 5,500,000 Class A Common Shares (1 
Class A Common Share and One-Half of 
One Warrant) 

$.10 Private Placement of 
Units 

September 21, 
2017 

8,832,360 Class A Common Shares (1 
Class A Common Share and One-Half of 
One Warrant) 

$.10 Private Placement of 
Units 

October 6, 2017 162,833  Class A Common Shares $0.12 Shares for Debt 

November 8, 2017 9,900,000 (1 Class A Common Share and 
One-Half of One Warrant) 

$0.10 Private Placement of 
Units 

December 12, 
2017 

1,538,461 Class A Common Shares $0.13 Private Placement of 
Shares 

July 3, 2018 1,960,781  Class A Common Shares $0.16 Shares for Debt 
August 2, 2018 477,363  Class A Common Shares $0.21 Shares for Debt 
Total 28,208,965 Class A Common Shares   
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The following table provides a summary of trading of the Issuer’s Class A common shares 
on the CSE on a monthly basis for each month of the current quarter and the immediately 
preceding quarter, and on a quarterly basis for the next preceding seven quarters.  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Month/Quarter 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Volume (# of Class A 
Common Shares) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
High Price per 
Class A 
Common Share 
($) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Low Price per 
Class A 
Common Share 
($) 

August 1 – 20, 2018 1,655,249 0.30 0.22 

July 2018 3,575,311 0.30 0.18 

June 2018 7,035,317 0.23 0.13 

May 2018 2,165,356 0.17 0.14 

Quarter ended April 
30, 2018 

16,340,744 0.20 0.13 

Quarter ended 
January 31, 2018 

11,433,450 0.25 0.11 

Quarter ended 
October 31, 2017 

3,342,611 0.20 0.12 

Quarter ended July 
31, 2017 

3,392,713 0.15 0.08 

Quarter ended April 
30, 2017 

16,189,983 0.27 0.04 

Quarter ended 
January 31, 2017 

8,199,568 0.07 0.03 

Quarter ended 
October 31, 2016 

1,744,263 0.05 0.02 

 
11. Escrowed Securities 
 
11.1 State as of a specified date within 30 days before the date of the Listing 

Statement, in substantially the following tabular form, the number of 
securities of each class of securities of the Issuer held, to the knowledge 
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of the Issuer, in escrow (which, for the purposes of this Form includes any 
securities subject to a pooling agreement) and the percentage that number 
represents of the outstanding securities of that class. In a note to the table, 
disclose the name of the depository, if any, and the date of and conditions 
governing the release of the securities from escrow. 

 
There are no escrowed securities of the Issuer pursuant to National Policy 46-201 – 
Escrow for Initial Public Offerings of the Canadian Securities Administrators.  
 
12. Principal Shareholders  
 
12.1 (1) Provide the following information for each principal shareholder of the 

Issuer as of a specified date not more than 30 days before the date of 
the  Listing Statement: 

 
(a) Name; 

 
(b) The number or amount of securities owned of the class to be 

listed; 
 

(c) Whether the securities referred to in subsection 12(1)(b) are 
owned both of record and beneficially, of record only, or 
beneficially only; and 

 
(d) The percentages of each class of securities known by the Issuer 

to be owned. 

(2) If the Issuer is requalifying following a fundamental change or has 
proposed an acquisition, amalgamation, merger, reorganization or 
arrangement, indicate, to the extent known, the holding of each person 
of company described in paragraph (1) that will exist after giving effect 
to the transaction. 

 
(3) If, to the knowledge of the Issuer, more than 10 per cent of any class 

of voting securities of the Issuer is held, or is to be held, subject to 
any voting trust or other similar agreement, disclose, to the extent 
known, the designation of the securities, the number or amount of the 
securities held or to be held subject to the agreement and the duration 
of the agreement.  State the names and addresses of the voting 
trustees and outline briefly their voting rights and other powers under 
the agreement. 

 
(4) If, to the knowledge of the Issuer, any principal shareholder is an 

associate or affiliate of another person or company named as a 
principal shareholder, disclose, to the extent known, the material facts 
of the relationship, including any basis for influence over the Issuer 
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held by the person or company other than the holding of voting 
securities of the Issuer. 

 
(5) In addition to the above, include in a footnote to the table, the required 

calculation(s) on a fully-diluted basis. 
 
To the knowledge of the Issuer, and based on existing information, there are no persons 
who will beneficially own, or exercise control or direction over, directly or indirectly, more 
than 10% of issued and outstanding Class A Common Shares as of the date of the Listing 
Statement, except as set out below: 
 
Name Number of Class A 

Common Shares 
% of Class as at the date of this 
Listing Statement 

Don Allan 13,950,7121 9.04%1 
Douglas Allan 18,325,1892 11.88%2 

 
Notes: 

1 Don Allan does holds 2,250,000 stock options exercisable until January 12, 2021 at an exercise 
price of $0.25, 100% of which have vested as of the date of this Listing Statement, and Restricted 
Share Units, none of which have vested as of the date of this Listing Statement.  On a fully diluted 
basis, as at the date of this Listing Statement, Don Allan would own 16,200,712 Class A Common 
Shares, representing 10.5% of the issued and outstanding common shares of the Issuer. 

2 Douglas Allan holds a $100,000 convertible debenture, convertible into 1,000,000 Class B 
Common Shares (1,225,000 including interest at 15%).  On a fully diluted basis, as at the date of 
this Listing Statement, Douglas Allan would own 19,550,189 Class A Common Shares, 
representing 12.67% of the issued and outstanding common shares of the Issuer. 

13 Directors and Officers 
 
13.1 List the name and municipality of residence of each director and executive 

officer of the Issuer and indicate their respective positions and offices held 
with the Issuer and their respective principal occupations within the five 
preceding years. 

 
13.2 State the period or periods during which each director has served as a 

director and when his or her term of office will expire. 
 
13.3 State the number and percentage of securities of each class of voting 

securities of the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries beneficially owned, 
directly or indirectly, or over which control or direction is exercised by all 
directors and executive officers of the Issuer as a group. 

 
13.4 Disclose the board committees of the Issuer and identify the members of 

each committee. 
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13.5 If the principal occupation of a director or officer of the Issuer is acting as 
an officer of a person or company other than the Issuer, disclose the fact 
and state the principal business of the person or company. 

 
Name, Municipality of 

Residence and 
Position with 

Issuer 
 Present Principal Occupation 

Director 
and/or 
Officer 
Since 

 
Shares 

Owned(2) 
Don Allan (1)(3)(4) 
Red Deer County, 
Alberta 
Canada 
President, CEO and 
Director  
 

Mr. Allan has more than two decades of executive 
leadership experience including experience in debt and 
equity capital markets, strategy and planning, risk 
management and investor relations. Mr. Allan has an 
extensive background in business development, 
marketing and project development.  Mr. Allan is 
President and CEO of the Blue Horizon Industries Inc. 
(CSE– BH), past Board member of the Rainbow Council 
and past President and CEO of Peace River Oil. Mr. 
Allan was runner up for the Ernst & Young “Entrepreneur 
of the Year” award in 2007. 

 March 1, 
2013 
(elected 
each year 
as director, 
indefinite 
as officer) 

13,950,712 

Chris Dovbniak(3) 
Erskine, Alberta 
Canada 
Director 

Mr. Dovbniak is a retired instrumentation/electrical 
technician with a vast array of supervisory and planning 
expertise. Mr. Dovbniak has over 30 years of process 
management, control and purchasing experience. Mr. 
Dovbniak has extensive experience in holding board 
positions on non-profit and profit corporations.  Mr. 
Dovbniak will be able to provide extensive advice 
throughout engineering and construction of the 
refineries.    
 

December 
19, 2014 
(elected 
each year) 

12,583 

Mel Angeltvedt(1) 
Provost, Alberta 
Canada 
Director 

Mr. Angeltvedt has 30 years of experience in the oil and 
gas industry in process and production as well as in the 
service sector. Mr Angeltvedt has been the President of 
Bozco Enterprises since its conception in 1998. Mr 
Angeltvedt brings experience-based business 
knowledge and will be a valuable advisor on the 
financing, construction, operation and expansion of 
Cielo. 
 

February 
15, 2016( 
elected 
each year) 

1,303,438(5) 

Doug MacKenzie(1) (3) (4) 

Oakville, Ontario 
Canada 
Director 

Mr. MacKenzie, a former oil industry executive, has over 
20 years’ experience as a senior executive, strategist 
and innovator in the ethanol and biofuels industry. Mr. 
MacKenzie is presently the CEO, President of Permolex 
International.  He has been involved extensively in 
community volunteer activities and works as a real 
estate agent.  His education includes MBA (York), 
Management Science (Stanford) and Bachelor Science 
in Engineering Physics (U of Alberta, with Distinction) 

June 7, 
2013 
(elected 
each year) 

Nil 
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Christopher Robin 
Ray(1) 
Lethbridge, Alberta 
Canada 
Director (Former CFO) 

Mr. Ray is a Certified General Accountant. Since 1995 
Mr. Ray has been a partner in the general accounting 
firm, MacNevin & Ray. Mr. Ray served from April 2001 
to present as the Chief Financial Officer & as a Director 
of MLB Industries Inc. Mr. Ray brings extensive 
business experience to the board. 

June 7, 
2013 
(elected 
each year) 

250,341 

Shannon Wyzykoski 
Red Deer, Alberta 
Canada 
CFO 

Ms. Wyzykoski is a Chartered Professional Accountant 
with over 20 years of experience working with rapidly 
growing and changing companies. Shannon has spent 
the past 10 years as a partner with the SSCR Corporate 
Solutions consulting group in Red Deer. Prior to that she 
was the CFO/Controller for several oilfield service 
companies in Central Alberta. Her expertise is providing 
dynamic companies with solid strategic advice, 
reporting, controls and systems, which she will continue 
to do in her role as CFO for Cielo. 
 

October 26, 
2016 (until 
termination 
of 
agreement) 

300,000 

Stuart McCormick 
Edmonton, Alberta 
Canada 
Vice President of 
Compliance and 
Regulatory Affairs 

Mr. McCormick is a professional civil/environmental 
engineer with more than 30 years’ of experience. Mr. 
McCormick is also an accomplished businessman with 
excellent working knowledge of multiple industries, 
including environmental services, waste management, 
consulting engineering, forest products, mining and 
energy. Mr. McCormick has extensive experience in 
engineering and science, technology and innovation, 
safe operations, business strategy and planning, project 
management, sales and marketing, financial analysis, 
people leadership, and capital allocation. 
 

June 5, 
2017 (until 
termination 
of 
agreement) 

162,500 

Michael Yeung 
Calgary, Alberta 
Canada 
Vice President of 
Business Development 
and Capital Markets 

Mr. Yeung has over 15 years’ experience in public and 
private debt and equity markets and  is a Chartered 
Financial Analyst.  Mr. Yeung's experience incorporates 
equity, debt, mergers and acquisitions, capital structure, 
valuations, research and equity markets.  His main focus 
has been on deal origination, deal structuring, due 
diligence and valuations.  He has participated in over $1 
billion worth of transactions as either debt, equity or 
mergers and acquisitions.  Previously, he was at Second 
City Capital, a private equity firm, as Director of 
Investments where he was responsible for deal 
origination, due diligence, valuation and maintenance.  
Prior to that he was Managing Director, Investment  
Banking for a US based investment bank.  Mr. Yeung 
started his experience over a decade ago with a 
chartered Canadian bank where he worked with reserve 
based lines, acquisition lines and bridges lines for 
explorers and producers in the Canadian oil patch. 

January 12, 
2018 

1,000,000 

  
 (1) Member of audit committee as at August 20, 2018. 
 (2) The approximate number of shares of the Company carrying the right to vote in all circumstances beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, or 
over which control or direction is exercised by each director or officer as of August 25, 2017. This information is not within the knowledge of the 
management of the Issuer and has been furnished by the respective individuals, or has been extracted from the register of shareholdings maintained 
by the Company’s transfer agent or from insider reports filed by the individuals and available through the Internet at www.sedi.ca. 
(3)  Member of compensation committee as at August 20, 2018.  
(4) Member of governance committee as at August 20, 2018. 
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(5) Mel Angeltvedt holds 991,250 Class A Common Shares directly and 312,188 through a corporation owned and/or controlled in whole or in part 
by him. 

 
13.6 Disclose if a director or officer of the Issuer or a shareholder holding a 

sufficient number of securities of the Issuer to affect materially the control 
of the Issuer, is, or within 10 years before the date of the Listing Statement 
has been, a director or officer of any other Issuer that, while that person 
was acting in that capacity: 

 
(a) was the subject of a cease trade or similar order, or an order that 

denied the other Issuer access to any exemptions under Ontario 
securities law, for a period of more than 30 consecutive days, state 
the fact and describe the basis on which the order was made and 
whether the order is still in effect; 

 
To the knowledge of the Issuer, except as described below, no other directors or 
executive officer of the Issuer (nor any personal holding company of any of such persons) 
is, as of the date of this Listing Statement, or was within ten years before the date of this 
Listing Statement, a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer of any 
company (including the Issuer), that: (a) was subject to a cease trade order (including a 
management cease trade order), an order similar to a cease trade order or an order that 
denied the relevant company access to any exemption under securities legislation, in 
each case that was in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days (collectively, 
an “Order”), that was issued while the director or executive officer was acting in the 
capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer; or (b) was subject to 
an Order that was issued after the director or executive officer ceased to be a director, 
chief executive officer or chief financial officer and which resulted from an event that 
occurred while that person was acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer 
or chief financial officer. 
 
Blue Horizon Industries Inc., of which Mr. Don Allan is CEO and President and Robin Ray 
was CFO, has been subject to a Cease Trade Order as of March 6, 2012, and the Cease 
Trade Order is still in effect today.   
 

 
(b) was subject to an event that resulted, after the director or executive 

officer ceased to be a director or executive officer, in the company 
being the subject of a cease trade or similar order or an order that 
denied the relevant company access to any exemption under 
securities legislation, for a period of more than 30 consecutive days, 
state the fact and describe the basis on which the order was made and 
whether the order is still in effect; 

 
Not applicable. 
 



 

 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

January 2015 
Page 34 

 
  

(c) became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to 
bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any 
proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a 
receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets, 
state the fact; or 

 
(d) within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became 

bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to 
bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any 
proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a 
receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets, 
state the fact. 

 
To the knowledge of the Issuer, except as described below, no director or executive 
officer of the Issuer (nor any personal holding company of any of such persons), or 
shareholder holding a sufficient number of securities of the Issuer to affect materially the 
control of the Issuer: (a) is, as of the date of this Listing Statement, or has been within the 
ten years before the date of this Listing Statement, a director or executive officer of any 
company (including the Issuer) that, while that person was acting in that capacity, or within 
a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal 
under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted 
any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver 
manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets; or (b) has, within the ten years before 
the date of this Listing Statement, become bankrupt, made a proposal under any 
legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any 
proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver 
manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of the director, executive officer or 
shareholder. 
 
13.7 Describe the penalties or sanctions imposed and the grounds on which 

they were imposed or the terms of the settlement agreement and the 
circumstances that gave rise to the settlement agreement, if a director or 
officer of the Issuer, or a shareholder holding sufficient securities of the 
Issuer to affect materially the control of the Issuer, has: 

 
(a) been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating 

to Canadian securities legislation or by a Canadian securities 
regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with 
a Canadian securities regulatory authority; or 

 
(b) been subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court 

or regulatory body that would be likely to be considered important to 
a reasonable investor making an investment decision. 

 
To the knowledge of the Issuer, no director or executive officer of the Issuer (nor any 
personal holding company of any of such persons), or shareholder holding a sufficient 
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number of securities of the Issuer to affect materially the control of the Issuer, has been 
subject to: (a) any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to securities 
legislation or by a securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement 
agreement with a securities regulatory authority; or (b) any other penalties or sanctions 
imposed by a court or regulatory body that would likely be considered important to a 
reasonable investor in making an investment decision. 

 
13.8 Despite section 13.7, no disclosure is required of a settlement agreement 

entered into before December 31, 2000 unless the disclosure would likely 
be important to a reasonable investor in making an investment decision. 

 
13.9 If a director or officer of the Issuer, or a shareholder holding sufficient 

securities of the Issuer to affect materially the control of the Issuer, or a 
personal holding company of any such persons has, within the 10 years 
before the date of the Listing Statement, become bankrupt, made a 
proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or 
been subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise 
with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to 
hold the assets of the director or officer, state the fact. 

 
See #13.6(d). 
 
13.10 Disclose particulars of existing or potential material conflicts of interest 

between the Issuer or a subsidiary of the Issuer and a director or officer of 
the Issuer or a subsidiary of the Issuer. 

 
Certain of the directors and officers of the Issuer also serve as directors and/or officers of 
other companies. Consequently, there exists the possibility for such directors to be in a 
position of conflict. Don Allan, Mel Angeltvedt and Robin Ray are each a director and/or 
officer of 1888711 Alberta Inc., the Company’s licensee/licensor and Mel Angeltvedt is 
also a shareholder with significant shareholdings.  Any decision made by such directors 
involving the Issuer will be made in accordance with their duties and obligations to deal 
fairly and in good faith with the Company and such other companies. In addition, such 
directors will declare, and refrain from voting on, any matter in which such directors may 
have a conflict of interest. 
 
13.11 Management — In addition to the above provide the following information 

for each member of management: 
 

(a) state the individual's name, age, position and responsibilities with the 
Issuer and relevant educational background; 

 
(b) state whether the individual works full time for the Issuer or what 

proportion of the individual's time will be devoted to the Issuer; 
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(c) state whether the individual is an employee or independent contractor 
of the Issuer; 

 
(d) state the individual's principal occupations or employment during the 

five years prior to the date of the Listing Statement, disclosing with 
respect to each organization as of the time such occupation or 
employment was carried on: 

 
(i) its name and principal business, 

 
(ii) if applicable, that the organization was an affiliate of the Issuer, 

 
(iii) positions held by the individual, and 

 
(iv) whether it is still carrying on business, if known to the individual; 

 
(e) describe the individual's experience in the Issuer's industry; and 

 
(f) state whether the individual has entered into a non-competition or 

non-disclosure agreement with the Issuer. 
 
Don Allan 
 
Mr. Allan earned a technical degree in Plumbing & Gasfitting from NAIT in 1981.  Mr. 
Allan also commenced a Mechanical Engineering program from NAIT, completing 1 year 
of the 2 year program.  Mr. Allan has been a director of the Issuer since January 14th, 
2013, has been the President and Chief Executive Officer of the Issuer since May 1, 2013, 
and since the latter date he has worked for the Issuer full-time, and will continue to work 
full-time for the Issuer. 
 
Mr. Allan is also a director of 1888711 Alberta Inc., a private Alberta corporation with 
which the Issuer has entered into a license agreement with respect to the development 
of its technology on June 14, 2016. The license agreement is available for review on 
SEDAR. 
 
Although Mr. Allan is a director and the President and Chief Executive Officer of Blue 
Horizon Industries Inc. and its subsidiaries, the companies are non-operational. 
 
Mr. Allan brings to the Issuer approximately 35 years’ experience in upper management 
roles.  Don has a diverse range of Canadian and international financial, management and 
marketing experience. Mr. Allan was runner up for the Ernst & Young "Entrepreneur of 
the Year" award in 2007. 
 
The Issuer has entered into an employment agreement dated November 1, 2017 with Mr. 
Allan with appropriate non-competition and non-disclosure provisions. 
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Shannon Wyzykoski 
 
Ms. Wyzykoski is a Chartered Professional Accountant with over 20 years of experience 
working with rapidly growing and changing companies. Shannon has spent the past 10 
years as a partner with the SSCR Corporate Solutions consulting group in Red Deer, AB. 
Prior to that she was the CFO/Controller for several oilfield service companies in Central 
Alberta. Her expertise is providing dynamic companies with solid strategic advice, 
reporting, controls and systems, which she will continue to do in her role as CFO for the 
Issuer. 
 
Ms. Wyzykoski provides typical CFO services as an independent director through her 
corporation SSCR Corporate Solutions Inc., subject to an agreement dated October 20, 
2016 with the Issuer, which includes non-disclosure but not non-competition provisions.  
Ms. Wysykoski also provides the same or similar services to other clients, who may be in 
competition with the Issuer.   
 
Stuart McCormick 
 
Mr. McCormick acts as Vice President of Compliance and Regulatory Affairs with respect 
to engineering.  Mr. McCormick is a professional civil/environmental engineer with more 
than 30 years' of experience. Mr. McCormick is also an accomplished businessman with 
excellent working knowledge of multiple industries, including environmental services, 
waste management, consulting engineering, forest products, mining and energy. Mr. 
McCormick has extensive experience in engineering and science, technology and 
innovation, safe operations, business strategy and planning, project management, sales 
and marketing, financial analysis, people leadership, and capital allocation. 
 
Mr. McCormick provides his services to the Issuer as an independent contractor through 
an agreement dated April 24, 2017 between the Issuer and Stuart A McCormick 
Consulting, a sole proprietorship registered in the Province of Alberta.  Mr. McCormick 
was engaged to provide services to the Issuer prior to becoming an officer of the Issuer 
on a trial basis.  It was determined on or about June 5, 2017 that Mr. McCormick would 
continue to provide services however as an officer. Pursuant to the terms of the current 
agreement, Mr. McCormick is subject to non-disclosure but not non-competition 
provisions.   
 
Michael Yeung 
 
Mr. Yeung acts as Vice President of Business Development and Capital Markets.  Mr. 
Yeung has over 15 years of capital markets experience in both equity and debt. Mr. 
Yeung's experience incorporates equity, debt, mergers and acquisitions, capital structure, 
valuations, research and equity markets.  His main focus has been on deal origination, 
deal structuring, due diligence and valuations.  He has participated in over $1 billion worth 
of transactions as either debt, equity or mergers and acquisitions.  Previously, he was at 
Second City Capital, a private equity firm, as Director of Investments where he was 
responsible for deal origination, due diligence, valuation and maintenance.  Prior to that 
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he was Managing Director, Investment  Banking for a US based investment bank.  Mr. 
Yeung started his experience over a decade ago with a chartered Canadian bank where 
he worked with reserve based lines, acquisition lines and bridges lines for explorers and 
producers in the Canadian oil patch. 
 
The Issuer has entered into an employment agreement dated January 9, 2018 with Mr. 
Yeung with appropriate non-competition and non-disclosure provisions. 
 
14. Capitalization 

14.1 Prepare and file the following chart for each class of securities to be listed:  

The following information (for registered shareholdings) is as of August 3, 2018.   
 
Issued Capital 

 Number of 
Securities 
(non-diluted) 

Number of 
Securities 
(fully-
diluted) 

%of 
Issued 
(non-
diluted) 

% of 
Issued  
(fully diluted) 

Public Float 
 

    

Total outstanding (A)  154,304,427 203,091,640 100% 100% 
     
Held by Related Persons 
or employees of the 
Issuer or Related Person 
of the Issuer, or by 
persons or companies 
who beneficially own or 
control, directly or 
indirectly, more than a 
5% voting position in the 
Issuer (or who would 
beneficially own or 
control, directly or 
indirectly, more than a 
5% voting position in the 
Issuer upon exercise or 
conversion of other 
securities held) (B) 

35,304,763 44,043,763 22.88% 21.69% 

 118,999,664 159,047,877 77.12% 78.31% 
TOTAL PUBLIC FLOAT 
(A-B) 

    

     
Freely-Tradeable Float     
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Number of outstanding 
securities subject to 
resale restrictions, 
including restrictions 
imposed by pooling or 
other arrangements or in 
a shareholder agreement 
and securities held by 
control block holders (C)  

2,438,144 2,438,144 1.58% 1.2% 

     
Total Tradeable Float (A-
C) 

151,855,283 200,653,496 98.4% 98.8% 

 
Notes: 
 

(1) The calculation for fully diluted number of securities includes full interest on convertible 
debentures.    

(2) Information for non-Public security holders is from the beneficial share holdings as publicly 
disclosed on the System for Electronic Disclosure by Insiders (www.SEDI.ca) as at August 
3, 2018 of the current directors, officers and insiders of the Issuer. The determination as 
to whether or not a security holders owns 5% or greater shares is based on the share 
register as at August 3, 2018 and the information on SEDI. 
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Public Securityholders (Registered) 
 

Instruction: For the purposes of this report, "public securityholders" are 
persons other than persons enumerated in section (B) of the previous chart. 
List registered holders only. 

 
The following information is taken from the Issuer’s Registered Holder List as of August 
3, 2018, as maintained by its registrar and transfer agent:  

 

Class of Security 
 

    

Size of Holding   Number of 
holders 

 Total number of 
securities 

     
1 – 99 securities  41  546 
     
100 – 499 securities  8  1,652 
     
500 – 999 securities  33  16,517 
     
1,000 – 1,999 securities  7  10,230 
     
2,000 – 2,999 securities  2  4,005 
     
3,000 – 3,999 securities  4  12,796 
     
4,000 – 4,999 securities  3  14,614 
     
5,000 or more  securities  128  154,181,244 
     
  226  154,241,604 
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Public Securityholders (Beneficial) 
 

Instruction: Include (i) beneficial holders holding securities in their own 
name as registered shareholders; and (ii) beneficial holders holding 
securities through an intermediary where the Issuer has been given written 
confirmation of shareholdings. For the purposes of this section, it is 
sufficient if the intermediary provides a breakdown by number of beneficial 
holders for each line item below; names and holdings of specific beneficial 
holders do not have to be disclosed. If an intermediary or intermediaries will 
not provide details of beneficial holders, give the aggregate position of all 
such intermediaries in the last line. 

 
The following information is as of August 8, 2018, when a shareholder distribution inquiry 
of intermediaries was carried out on behalf of the Issuer. 
 

Class of Security 
 

    

Size of Holding   Number of 
holders 

 Total number of 
securities 

     
1 – 99 securities  152   3,598 
     
100 – 499 securities  65  16,361 
     
500 – 999 securities  35  20,197 
     
1,000 – 1,999 securities  53  69,114 
     
2,000 – 2,999 securities  39  87,501 
     
3,000 – 3,999 securities  35  112,640 
     
4,000 – 4,999 securities  28  121,181 
     
5,000 or more  securities  807  92,558,533 
     
Unable to confirm  N/A  N/A 
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Non-Public Securityholders (Registered) 
 

Instruction: For the purposes of this report, “non-public securityholders” are 
persons enumerated in section (B) of the issued capital chart.  

 
The following information is taken from the Issuer’s Registered Holder List as of August 
3, 2018, as maintained by its registrar and transfer agent.  

 

Class of Security 
 

    

Size of Holding   Number of 
holders 

 Total number of 
securities 

     
1 – 99 securities  0  0 
     
100 – 499 securities  0  0 
     
500 – 999 securities  0  0 
     
1,000 – 1,999 securities  0  0 
     
2,000 – 2,999 securities  0  0 
     
3,000 – 3,999 securities  0  0 
     
4,000 – 4,999 securities  0  0 
     
5,000 or more  securities  1  12,983 
     
  1  12,983 

 
 
 
14.2 Provide the following details for any securities convertible or 

exchangeable into any class of listed securities 
 
See #9.1 for details regarding the following summary of securities which are convertible 
or exchangeable into Class A Common Shares. 
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Description of Security 
(include conversion /  
exercise terms, including 
conversion / exercise 
price) 

Number of convertible / 
exchangeable securities 
outstanding 

Number of listed 
securities issuable upon 
conversion / exercise 

Options 10,240,000 10,240,000 
Warrants 29,659,273 29,659,273 
Convertible Debentures $500,000 plus interest 8,887,940 

Restricted Share Units2 $4,750,000 TBD 
 
Notes: 
 

1 Both principal and interest may be converted into Class A Common Shares.  While the principal 
is convertible into 6,500,000 shares, the balance reflected above accounts for the interest that 
would be convertible in the event that the convertible debentures are exercised immediately prior 
to maturity. 

2 Restricted Share Units may be paid in cash or Class A Common Shares (at the market price on 
the date of vesting) in the discretion of the Issuer. 

14.3 Provide details of any listed securities reserved for issuance that are not 
included in section 14.2. 

 
The Issuer does not have any listed securities reserved for issuance that are not included 
in Section 14.2.  
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15. Executive Compensation 
 
15.1 Attach a Statement of Executive Compensation from Form 51-102F6 or any 

successor instrument and describe any intention to make any material 
changes to that compensation. 

 
As defined under applicable securities legislation, the Issuer has two "Named Executive 
Officers" during the financial year ended April 30, 2018, as set out below: 
 
Don Allan – President and Chief Executive Officer  
Shannon Wyzykoski – Chief Financial Officer 
 
For the purpose of this Statement of Executive Compensation:  
 
“compensation securities” includes stock options, convertible securities, exchangeable 
securities and similar instruments including stock appreciation rights, deferred share units 
and restricted stock units granted or issued by the Issuer or one of its subsidiaries for 
services provided or to be provided, directly or indirectly, to the Issuer or any of its 
subsidiaries;  
 
“Issuer” means Cielo Waste Solutions Corp.;  
 
“NEO” or “named executive officer” means each of the following individuals:  
 
 (a)  each individual who, in respect of the Issuer, during any part of the most 

recently completed financial year, served as chief executive officer (“CEO”), 
including an individual performing functions similar to a CEO;  

 
 (b)  each individual who, in respect of the Issuer, during any part of the most 

recently completed financial year, served as chief financial officer (“CFO”), 
including an individual performing functions similar to a CFO;  

 
 (c)  in respect of the Issuer and its subsidiaries, the most highly compensated 

executive officer other than the individuals identified in paragraphs (a) and (b) at 
the end of the most recently completed financial year whose total compensation 
was more than $150,000 for that financial year; and  

 
 (d)  each individual who would be a named executive officer under paragraph (c) 

but for the fact that the individual was not an executive officer of the Issuer, and 
was not acting in a similar capacity, at the end of that financial year;  

 
“external management company” includes a subsidiary, affiliate or associate of the 
external management company;  
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“plan” includes any plan, contract, authorization, or arrangement, whether or not set out 
in any formal document, where cash, compensation securities or any other property may 
be received, whether for one or more persons;  
 
“underlying securities” means any securities issuable on conversion, exchange or 
exercise of compensation securities.  
 
Definitions:  
 
"CEO" means an individual who acted as chief executive officer of the Issuer, or acted in 
a similar capacity, for any part of the most recently completed financial year; 
 
"CFO" means an individual who acted as chief financial officer of the Company, or acted 
in a similar capacity, for any part of the most recently completed financial year; 
 
"closing market price" means the price at which the Company’s security was last sold, 
on the applicable date,  

(a) in the security’s principal marketplace in Canada, or 
(b) if the security is not listed or quoted on a marketplace in Canada, in the 

security’s principal marketplace; 
 
"company" includes other types of business organizations such as partnerships, trusts 
and other unincorporated business entities; 
 
"equity incentive plan" means an incentive plan, or portion of an incentive plan, under 
which awards are granted and that falls within the scope of Section 3870 of the Handbook; 
 
"external management company" includes a subsidiary, affiliate or associate of the 
external management company; 
 
"grant date" means a date determined for financial statement reporting purposes under 
Section 3870 of the Handbook; 
 
"Handbook" means the Handbook of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants, 
as amended from time to time; 
 
"incentive plan" means any plan providing compensation that depends on achieving 
certain performance goals or similar conditions within a specified period; 
 
"incentive plan award" means compensation awarded, earned, paid, or payable under 
an incentive plan; 
 
"NEO" or "named executive officer" means each of the following individuals: 

(a)     a CEO; 
(b)     a CFO; 
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(c)  each of the three most highly compensated executive officers, or the 
three most highly compensated individuals acting in a similar capacity, 
other than the CEO and CFO, at the end of the most recently completed 
financial year whose total compensation was, individually, more than 
$150,000, as determined in accordance with subsection 1.3(6) of 
National Instrument 51-102, for that financial year; and 

(d)  each individual who would be an NEO under paragraph (c) but for the 
fact that the individual was neither an executive officer of the company, 
nor acting in a similar capacity, at the end of that financial year; 

 
"NI 52-107" means National Instrument 52-107 Acceptable Accounting Principles, 
Auditing Standards and Reporting Currency; 
 
"non-equity incentive plan" means an incentive plan or portion of an incentive plan that 
is not an equity incentive plan; 
 
"option-based award" means an award under an equity incentive plan of options, 
including, for greater certainty, share options, share appreciation rights, and similar 
instruments that have option-like features; 
 
"plan" includes any plan, contract, authorization, or arrangement, whether or not set out 
in any formal document, where cash, securities, similar instruments or any other property 
may be received, whether for one or more persons; 
 
"replacement grant" means an option that a reasonable person would consider to be 
granted in relation to a prior or potential cancellation of an option; 
 
"repricing" means, in relation to an option, adjusting or amending the exercise or base 
price of the option, but excludes any adjustment or amendment that equally affects all 
holders of the class of securities underlying the option and occurs through the operation 
of a formula or mechanism in, or applicable to, the option; 
 
"share-based award" means an award under an equity incentive plan of equity-based 
instruments that do not have option-like features, including, for greater certainty, common 
shares, restricted shares, restricted share units, deferred share units, phantom shares, 
phantom share units, common share equivalent units, and stock. 
 
COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
Goals and Objectives 
 
The Compensation Committee was composed of three directors, being Don Allan Chris 
Dovbniak and Doug MacKenzie throughout the year ended April 30, 2018.  Management 
directors are required to abstain from voting in respect of their own compensation thereby 
providing the independent members of the Board with considerable input as to executive 
compensation. 
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The Board reviews on an annual basis the corporate goals and objectives relevant to 
executive compensation; evaluates each executive officer’s performance in light of those 
goals and objectives and sets the executive officer’s compensation level based, in part, 
on this evaluation.  The Board also takes into consideration the Company’s overall 
performance, shareholder returns, and the value of similar incentive awards to executive 
officers at comparable companies, and the awards given to executive officers in past 
years.   
 
Executive Officer Compensation  
 
Prior to the year ended April 30, 2018, as the Board and management of the Issuer have 
focused on furthering the business goals of the Issuer since its change of business (April 
14, 2014), securing financing for these business goals as well as limiting expenditures, 
the Compensation Committee and the Board had recommend the deferral of executive 
compensation.  During the year ended April 30, 2018, as the Issuer has moved toward 
commercialization of its technology and is nearing revenues, all officers of the Issuer have 
begun to receive compensation in accordance with their respective agreements. 
 
Stock options and Restricted Share Units (“RSUs”) are an important part of the 
Company’s long-term incentive strategy for its directors, officers, employees and 
consultants, permitting them to participate in any appreciation of the market value of the 
Company’s shares over a stated period of time, and are intended to reinforce commitment 
to long-term growth and shareholder value.  Stock options and RSUs reward overall 
corporate performance as measured through the price of the Issuer’s shares and enables 
executives to acquire and maintain an ownership position in the Issuer.   
 
Director Compensation  
 
While the Issuer has been in a period of change and growth, no compensation was paid 
to the directors of the Issuer up to and including April 30th, 2018.  In is anticipated that 
directors will begin to receive compensation once the Issuer begins to generate revenues. 
 
Option Based Awards 
 
Executive officers of the Issuer, as well as directors, employees and consultants, are 
eligible to participate in the Issuer’s stock option plan (the “Stock Option Plan”). Individual 
stock options are granted by the Board as a whole and the size of the options is 
dependent on, among other things, each officer’s level of responsibility, authority and 
importance to the Issuer and the degree to which an officer’s long term contribution to the 
Issuer will be crucial to its overall long-term success.   
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The Board of Directors approved the implementation of a Restricted Share Unit Plan (the 
“RSU Plan”) on September 7, 2017 as an alternative to stock options as a means of 
compensating directors and officers of the Issuer. Stock option and RSU grants may be 
made periodically to ensure that the number of options granted to any particular officer is 
commensurate with the officer’s level of ongoing responsibility within the Issuer. The 
Board will evaluate, as applicable, the number of options or RSUs an officer has been 
granted, the exercise price of the options and the term and vesting period remaining on 
those options or RSUs when considering further grants. Options and RSUs are usually 
priced at the closing trading price of the Issuer’s shares on the business day immediately 
preceding the date of grant or the date of grant and the current policy of the Board is that 
options expire two to five years from the date of grant.   
 
The Issuer has no arrangements, standard or otherwise, under which Directors are 
compensated by the Issuer for their services in their capacity as Directors, or for 
committee participation, or involvement in special assignments during the most recently 
completed financial year or subsequently, up to and including the date of this Listing 
Statement. 
 
Summary Compensation Tables  
The following disclosure sets out the compensation paid, made payable, awarded, 
granted, given or otherwise provided to each NEO and director for the financial year 
ended April 30, 2018. During the financial year ended April 30, 2018, the NEOs were Don 
Allan (CEO) and Shannon Wyzykoski (CFO).  
 
Director and named executive officer compensation, excluding compensation 
securities 
 
Table of compensation excluding compensation securities 
 
The following tables sets forth the summary information concerning compensation 
excluding compensation securities earned by the Company’s President and Chief 
Executive Officer (“CEO”), the Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), and the directors of the 
Company during the most recently completed financial years ended on or after April 30, 
2017. 
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Compensation Excluding Securities 
 

Name and 
Principal 
Position 

Year 
(period) 
Ended 

Salary, 
consulting 

fee, retainer 
or 

commission 
($) 

Bonus 
($) 

Committ
ee or 

meetings 
fees 
($) 

 

Value of 
perquisit

es 
($) 

Value of all 
other 

compensat
ion  
($) 

Total 
Compens

ation 
($) 

Don Allan 
President & 
Chief 
Executive 
Officer  

2017 
2018 

Nil 
158,508 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
      Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
158,508 

Shannon 
Wyzykoski, 
CPA 

Chief 
Financial 
Officer 

2017 
2018 

13,838 
77,880 

N/A 

N/A 

 

N/A 

N/A 

 

N/A 

N/A 

 

N/A 

N/A 

 

13,838 

77,880 

 

Chris 
Dovbniak 
Director 

2017 
2018 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Mel 
Angletvedt 
Director 

2017 
2018 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Doug 
MacKenzie 
Director 

2017 
2018 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Christopher 
Robin Ray 
Director 

2017 
2018 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

 
Stock Options and other compensation securities 
 
The following tables sets forth the summary information concerning compensation 
securities earned by the Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”), and 
Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), and the directors of the Company during the most recently 
completed financial years ended on or after April 30, 2017. 
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Compensation Securities  

Name  
and 

Principal 
Position 

 

Type of 
Compens

ation 
Security 

Number of 
compensat

ion 
securities, 
number of 
underlying 
securities, 

and 
percentag

e of 
class(1) 

 

 
Date of 
issue of 

grant 

 
Issue, 

conversion 
or exercise 

of price      
($) 

 

 

Closing 
price of 
security 

or 
underlyin

g 
security 
on date 
of grant 

($) 

 
 

Closing 
price of 

security or 
underlying 
security at 
year end 

($) 
 
 

Expiry 
Date 

 

Don Allan 
President & 
Chief 
Executive 
Officer  

Stock 
options 
Stock 

options 
 

RSUs 
 

Nil 
 
 

Nil 
 

Nil 

N/A 
 

January 12, 
2018 

 
January 12, 

2018 

N/A 
       

0.25 
 
 

N/A 

 Nil 
       

Nil 
 
 

$0.21 

Nil 
       

Ni 
 
 

$0.14l 

N/A 
 

N/A 
 
 

January 12, 
2019, 20 

and 21 (1/3 
each) 

Shannon 
Wyzykoski, 
CPA 

Chief 
Financial 
Officer 

Stock 
options 

 
Stock 

options 
 

N/A 
 

100,000 

N/A 
 

January 12, 
2018 

N/A 
 

$0.25 

N/A 
 

$0.21 

N/A 
 

$0.14 

N/A 
 

January 12, 
2018 

Chris 
Dovbniak 
Director 

Stock 
options 

 
Stock 

options 
 

500,000 
 
 

250,000 

November 
7, 2016 

 
 

January 12, 
2018 

 

$0.10 
 
 

       $0.25 
       
 

$0.05 
       
 

$0.21 

$0.12 
       
 

$0.14 

November 
7, 2019 

 
 

January 12, 
2021 

 

Mel 
Angletvedt 
Director 

Stock 
options 

 
Stock 

options 
 

500,000 
 
 

250,000 

November 
7, 2016 

 
 

January 12, 
2018 

 

$0.10 
 
 

       $0.25 
       
 

$0.05 
       
 

$0.21 

$0.12 
       
 

$0.14 

November 
7, 2019 

 
 

January 12, 
2021 
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Pension Plan Benefits 

The Issuer does not have any pension, retirement or deferred compensation plans, 
including defined contribution plans. 
 
Termination and Change of Control Benefits 

Except as listed below, the Issuer has not entered into any compensatory plans, contracts 
or arrangements with any of its Named Executive Officers (NEOs) whereby those officers 
are entitled to receive compensation as a result of the resignation, retirement or any other 
termination of employment of the NEO with the Issuer or from a change in control of the 
Issuer or a change in the Named Executive Officer’s responsibilities following a change 
in control. 
 
Pursuant to his employment agreement with the Issuer dated November 1, 2017, in the 
event that Don Allan is terminated without cause or there is a change of control event, 
Don Allan will be entitled to receive payment equal to four (4) times his then-current 
annual salary, in addition to any outstanding remuneration owing.  All unvested options 
and RSUs will vest immediately and Don Allan will continue to be entitled to receive an 
operating income bonus under the terms of the agreement.   
 
Management, Employment and Consulting Agreements 

The Issuer has entered into the following agreements with the NEOs: 
 
Shannon Wyzykoski provided her services as CFO through SSCR Corporate Solutions 
Ltd. pursuant to a consulting agreement with the Company, which includes non-disclosure 
but not non-competition provisions. 
 
Don Allan, President and CEO of the Company, entered into an employment agreement 
with the Issuer on November 1, 2017.  In addition to his salary, Don Allan is entitled to an 

Doug 
MacKenzie 
Director 

Stock 
options 

 
Stock 

options 
 

500,000 
 
 

250,000 

November 
7, 2016 

 
 

January 12, 
2018 

 

$0.10 
 
 

       $0.25 
       
 

$0.05 
       
 

$0.21 

$0.12 
       
 

$0.14 

November 
7, 2019 

 
 

January 12, 
2021 

 

Christopher 
Robin Ray 
Director 

Stock 
options 

 
Stock 

options 
 

500,000 
 
 

250,000 

November 
7, 2016 

 
 

January 12, 
2018 

 

$0.10 
 
 

       $0.25 
       
 

$0.05 
       
 

$0.21 

$0.12 
       
 

$0.14 

November 
7, 2019 

 
 

January 12, 
2021 
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operating income bonus calculated at 2.5% of the Issuer’s EBITDA each year.  Pursuant 
to his employment agreement with the Issuer dated November 1, 2017, in the event that 
Don Allan is terminated without cause or there is a change of control event, Don Allan will 
be entitled to receive payment equal to four (4) times his then-current annual salary, in 
addition to any outstanding remuneration owing.  All unvested options and RSUs will vest 
immediately and Don Allan will continue to be entitled to receive the operating income 
bonus under the terms of the agreement.   
 
16. Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers 
 
16.1 Aggregate Indebtedness 
 

 (1) Complete the above table for the aggregate indebtedness outstanding as at 
a date within thirty days before the date of the information circular entered 
into in connection with: 

 
(a) a purchase of securities; and 

 
(b) all other indebtedness. 

 
(2) Report separately the indebtedness to: 
 

(a) the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries (column (b)); and 
 
(b) another entity if the indebtedness is the subject of a guarantee, 

support agreement, letter of credit or other similar arrangement or 
understanding provided by the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries 
(column (c)), 

of all officers, directors, employees and former officers, directors and 
employees of the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries. 

 (3) “Support agreement” includes, but is not limited to, an agreement to provide 
assistance in the maintenance or servicing of any indebtedness and an 
agreement to provide compensation for the purpose of maintaining or servicing 
any indebtedness of the borrower. 

 
16.2 Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers under (1) Securities 

Purchase and (2) Other Programs  

(1) Complete the above table for each individual who is, or at any time during 
the most recently completed financial year was, a director or executive officer 
of the Issuer, each proposed nominee for election as a director of the Issuer, 
and each associate of any such director, executive officer or proposed 
nominee, 
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(a) who is, or at any time since the beginning of the most recently completed 
financial year of the Issuer has been, indebted to the Issuer or any of its 
subsidiaries, or 

(b) whose indebtedness to another entity is, or at any time since the 
beginning of the most recently completed financial year has been, the 
subject of a guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or other 
similar arrangement or understanding provided by the Issuer or any of 
its subsidiaries, 

 
and separately disclose the indebtedness for security purchase programs and 
all other programs. 

(2 )  Supplement the above table with a summary discussion of: 

(a) the material terms of each incidence of indebtedness and, if 
applicable, of each guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or 
other similar arrangement or understanding, including: 

(i) the nature of the transaction in which the indebtedness was incurred, 

(ii) the rate of interest, 

(iii) the term to maturity, 

(iv) any understanding, agreement or intention to limit recourse, 
and 

(v) any security for the indebtedness; 

(b) any material adjustment or amendment made during the most recently 
completed financial year to the terms of the indebtedness and, if 
applicable, the guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or 
similar arrangement or understanding. Forgiveness of indebtedness 
reported in column (g) of the above table should be explained; and 

 
(c) the class or series of the securities purchased with financial 

assistance or held as security for the indebtedness and, if the class or 
series of securities is not publicly traded, all material terms of the 
securities, including the provisions for exchange, conversion, 
exercise, redemption, retraction and dividends. 

 
Not applicable. 
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17.  Risk Factors 
 

17.1 Disclose risk factors relating to the Issuer and its business, such as cash 
flow and liquidity problems, if any, experience of management, the general 
risks inherent in the business carried on by the Issuer, environmental and 
health risks, reliance on key personnel, regulatory constraints, economic 
or political conditions and financial history and any other matter that would 
be likely to influence an investor’s decision to purchase securities of the 
Issuer. 

17.2  If there is a risk that securityholders of the Issuer may become liable to 
make an additional contribution beyond the price of the security, disclose 
that risk. 

17.3 Describe any risk factors material to the Issuer that a reasonable investor 
would consider relevant to an investment in the securities being listed 
and that are not otherwise described under section 17.1 or 17.2. 

 
Risks of the Issuer’s business include the following: 
 
No History of Revenues or Dividends 
The Issuer has no history of earnings and there is no assurance that the property, or any 
other future property that may be acquired by the Issuer, will generate earnings, operate 
profitably, or provide a return on investment in the future.  The Issuer has no plans to pay 
dividends in the foreseeable future. 
 
Reliance on Management’s Expertise 
The Issuer strongly depends on the business acumen of its management team and there 
is little possibility that this dependence will decrease in the near term.  The loss of the 
services of any member of such team could have a material adverse effect on the Issuer.  
Cielo does not have any key person insurance in place for management.   
 
Renewable Diesel Fuel Industry 
As a result of extensive research, management understands that US, Canadian and most 
European governments require a minimum of 2% - 10% of diesel fuels to be comprised 
of renewable diesel.   In Canada, it is 2% minimum by the federal government and in most 
provinces and an additional 2% has been added to the federal mandate, with some 
provinces increasing their requirement to 5% minimum blend, making a total blend of 7%.  
In USA it is 2-5% depending on State, with California seeking to increase to 10%.  In 
Europe it is 5% for automotive and 10% for airlines. 

• 2015 bio-diesel requirements for Western Canada were 196 million litres 
• 2015 bio-diesel production in Western Canada was reported to be 42-Million litres 
• The remaining 89.9% had to be imported from abroad 
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The development of a renewable fuel refinery involves significant risks, which even a 
combination of careful evaluation, experience and knowledge may not eliminate. While 
the renewable fuel production may result in substantial rewards, few renewable fuel 
refineries are developed into profitable businesses without significant help from 
government subsidies. Major expenses may be required to establish the refinery 
business.  It is impossible to ensure that the current business plan by the Issuer will result 
in a profitable commercial refining operation.  
 
The exact effect of these factors cannot be accurately predicted, but the combination of 
these factors may result in the Issuer not receiving an adequate return on invested capital. 
Renewable fuel refining operations generally involve a high degree of risk. The Issuer’s 
operations are subject to all the hazards and risks normally encountered in the feedstock, 
process design, the fluctuation of fuel prices and possible damage to, or destruction of 
the producing facilities, damage to life or property, environmental damage and possible 
legal liability. Although adequate precautions to minimize risk will be taken, refining 
operations are subject to hazards such as equipment failure and fuel storage areas, which 
may result in environmental pollution and consequent liability.  
 
The Issuer’s refining activities are directed towards the search, evaluation and 
development of feedstock and its ability to convert it into renewable fuel. There is no 
certainty that the refineries will result in production of commercial quantities of renewable 
fuel. There is competition within the renewable fuel industry which is considered to have 
commercial potential. The Issuer will compete with other interests, many of which have 
greater financial resources than it will have for the opportunity to participate in promising 
projects. Significant capital investment is required to achieve commercial production. 
 
Commodity Prices 
The profitability of the Issuer’s operations is significantly affected by changes in the 
market price of various renewable fuels. The level of interest rates, the rate of inflation, 
world supply of these minerals and stability of exchange rates can all cause significant 
fluctuations in renewable fuel prices. Such external economic factors are in turn 
influenced by changes in international investment patterns and monetary systems and 
political developments. The price of diesel fuel has fluctuated widely in recent years, and 
future serious price declines could cause continued commercial production to be 
impracticable. Depending on the price of diesel fuels, cash flow from operations may not 
be sufficient. Any figures for reserves presented by the Issuer will be estimates and no 
assurance can be given that the anticipated production of fuel will be achieved or that the 
indicated level of recovery will be realized. Market fluctuations and the price of renewable 
fuels, may render refining uneconomical.  Short-term operating factors relating to the 
production of renewable fuels, such as the increased feed stock costs or drop in 
renewable fuel prices, could cause the refining operation to be unprofitable in any 
particular accounting period. 
 
Uninsured Risks 
The Issuer may carry insurance to protect against certain risks in such amounts as it 
considers adequate. Risks not insured against include environmental pollution or other 
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hazards against which such corporations cannot insure or against which they may elect 
not to insure. 
 
Conflicts of Interest 
Certain of the directors and officers of the Issuer also serve as directors and/or officers of 
other companies. Consequently, there exists the possibility for such directors to be in a 
position of conflict. Don Allan, Mel Angeltvedt and Robin Ray are each a director and/or 
officer of 1888711 Alberta Inc., the Company’s licensee/licensor, as described in this 
MD&A, and Mel Angeltvedt is also a shareholder with significant shareholdings.  Any 
decision made by such directors involving the Issuer will be made in accordance with their 
duties and obligations to deal fairly and in good faith with the Issuer and such other 
companies. In addition, such directors will declare, and refrain from voting on, any matter 
in which such directors may have a conflict of interest. 
 
18. Promoters  
 
18.1 For a person or company that is, or has been within the two years 

immediately preceding the date of the Listing Statement, a promoter of the 
Issuer or of a subsidiary of the Issuer, state: 

 
(a) the person or company's name; 

 
(b) the number and percentage of each class of voting securities and 

equity securities of the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries beneficially 
owned, directly or indirectly, or over which control is exercised; 

 
(c) the nature and amount of anything of value, including money, 

property, contracts, options or rights of any kind received or to be 
received by the promoter directly or indirectly from the Issuer or from 
a subsidiary of the Issuer, and the nature and amount of any assets, 
services or other consideration therefor received or to be received by 
the Issuer or a subsidiary of the Issuer in return; and 

 
(d) for an asset acquired within the two years before the date of the 

Listing Statement or thereafter, or to be acquired, by the Issuer or by 
a subsidiary of the Issuer from a promoter: 

 
(i) the consideration paid or to be paid for the asset and the method 

by which the consideration has been or will be determined, 
 

(ii) the person or company making the determination referred to in 
subparagraph (i) and the person or company's relationship with 
the Issuer, the promoter, or an associate or affiliate of the Issuer 
or of the promoter, and 
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(iii) the date that the asset was acquired by the promoter and the cost 
of the asset to the promoter. 

18.2 (1) If a promoter referred to in section 18.1 is, as at the date hereof, or was 
within 10 years before the date hereof, a director, chief executive 
officer, or chief financial officer of any person or company that: 

a) was subject to an order that was issued while the promoter was 
acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief 
financial officer; or 

b) was subject to an order that was issued after the promoter ceased 
to be a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer 
and which resulted from an event that occurred while the 
promoter was acting in the capacity as director, chief executive 
officer or chief financial officer, 

state the fact and describe the basis on which the order was made and 
whether the order is still in effect. 

 
(2)  For the purposes of section 18.2 (1), “order” means: 

 
(a) a cease trade order; 
 
(b) an order similar to a cease trade order; or 

 
(c) an order that denied the relevant person or company access to 

any exemption under securities legislation, that was in effect for 
a period of more than 30 consecutive days. 

 (3)  If a promoter referred to in section 18.2 (1): 

(a) is, as at the date hereof, or has been within the 10 years before 
the date hereof, a director or executive officer of any person or 
company that, while the promoter was acting in that capacity, or 
within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, 
became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating 
to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any 
proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had 
a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its 
assets, state the fact; or 

(b) has, within the 10 years before the date hereof, become bankrupt, 
made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or 
insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any proceedings, 
arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, 
receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of the 
promoter, state the fact. 
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 (4)  Describe the penalties or sanctions imposed and the grounds on 
which they were imposed or the terms of the settlement agreement 
and the circumstances that gave rise to the settlement agreement, if a 
promoter referred to in section 18.2(1) has been subject to: 

(a) any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to 
provincial and territorial securities legislation or by a provincial 
and territorial securities regulatory authority or has entered into 
a settlement agreement with a provincial and territorial securities 
regulatory authority; or 

(b) any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory 
body that would be likely to be considered important to a 
reasonable investor in making an investment decision. 

 (5)  Despite section 18.2(4), no disclosure is required of a settlement 
agreement entered into before December 31, 2000 unless the 
disclosure would likely be considered important to a reasonable 
investor in making an investment decision. 

 
The Issuer has not engaged any promotion or promotional services of any kind as at this 
time. 
 
19. Legal Proceedings 
 
19.1 Describe any legal proceedings material to the Issuer to which the Issuer 

or a subsidiary of the Issuer is a party or of which any of their respective 
property is the subject matter and any such proceedings known to the 
Issuer to be contemplated, including the name of the court or agency, the 
date instituted, the principal parties to the proceedings, the nature of the 
claim, the amount claimed, if any, if the proceedings are being contested, 
and the present status of the proceedings. 

 
There are no legal proceedings material to the Issuer to which the Issuer or any subsidiary 
of the Issuer is a party or of which their respective property is the subject matter that is 
known to the Issuer.  
 

19.2 Regulatory actions - Describe any: 
 

(a) penalties or sanctions imposed against the Issuer by a court relating 
to provincial and territorial securities legislation or by a securities 
regulatory authority within the three years immediately preceding the 
date hereof; 

 
(b) other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body 

against the Issuer necessary to contain full, true and plain disclosure 
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of all material facts relating to the securities being listed; and 
 
(c) settlement agreements the Issuer entered into before a court relating 

to provincial and territorial securities legislation or with a securities 
regulatory authority within the three years immediately preceding the 
date hereof. 

 
There are no:  
 
(a)  penalties or sanctions imposed against the Issuer by a court relating to provincial and 
territorial securities legislation or by a securities regulatory authority within the three years 
immediately preceding the date hereof;  
 
(b)  other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body against the Issuer 
necessary to contain full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the 
securities being listed; nor  
 
(c)  settlement agreements the Issuer entered into before a court relating to provincial 
and territorial securities legislation or with a securities regulatory authority within the three 
years immediately preceding the date hereof. 
 
20. Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions 
 
20.1 Describe, and state the approximate amount of, any material interest, direct 

or indirect, of any of the following persons or companies in any transaction 
within the three years before the date of the Listing Statement, or in any 
proposed transaction, that has materially affected or will materially affect 
the Issuer or a subsidiary of the Issuer: 

 
(a) any director or executive officer of the Issuer; 
 
(b) a person or company that is the direct or indirect beneficial owner of, 

or who exercises control or direction over, more than 10 percent of 
any class or series of your outstanding voting securities; and 

 
(c) an associate or affiliate of any of the persons or companies referred to in 

paragraphs (a) or (b). 

For further particulars of the material interest, direct or indirect, of any of the following 
persons or companies in any transaction within the three years before the date of the 
Listing Statement, or in any proposed transaction, that has materially affected or will 
materially affect the Issuer or a subsidiary of the Issuer: 
 

(a) any director or executive officer of the Issuer, see "Section 6, Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis, Related Party Transactions"; 
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(b) a security holder disclosed in the Listing Statement as holding 10% or more of the 
Issuer’s voting securities, see, "Section 12, Principal Shareholders", and "Section 
6, Management’s Discussion and Analysis, Related Party Transactions".  

No associates or affiliates of any of the persons referred to above, unless as otherwise 
disclosed herein, have or had a material interest, direct or indirect, in any transaction 
within the three years before the date of the Listing Statement that has materially affected 
or will materially affect the Issuer or a subsidiary of the Issuer.  
 
21. Auditors, Transfer Agents and Registrars 
 
21.1 State the name and address of the auditor of the Issuer. 
 
The auditor for the Issuer is A Chan and Company LLP, Unit 114B – 8988 Fraserton 
Court, Burnaby, BC V5J 5H8. 
 
21.2 For each class of securities, state the name of any transfer agent, registrar, 

trustee, or other agent appointed by the Issuer to maintain the securities 
register and the register of transfers for such securities and indicate the 
location (by municipality) of each of the offices of the Issuer or transfer 
agent, registrar, trustee or other agent where the securities register and 
register of transfers are maintained or transfers of securities are recorded.   

 
The registrar and transfer agent for the common shares of the Issuer is Computershare 
Trust Company of Canada, 3rd Floor, 510 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, 
V6C 3B9.  
 
22. Material Contracts 
 
22.1 Give particulars of every material contract, other than contracts entered 

into in the ordinary course of business that was entered into within the two 
years before the date of Listing Statement by the Issuer or a subsidiary of 
the Issuer. 

 
See description in "Item 3.1 General Description of the Business". 
 
22.2 If applicable, attach a copy of any co-tenancy, unitholders' or limited 

partnership agreement. 
 
Not applicable. 
 
23 Interest of Experts 
 
23.1 Disclose all direct or indirect interests in the property of the Issuer or of a 

Related Person of the Issuer received or to be received by a person or 
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company whose profession or business gives authority to a statement 
made by the person or company and who is named as having prepared or 
certified a part of the Listing Statement or prepared or certified a report or 
valuation described or included in the Listing Statement. 

 
23.2 Disclose the beneficial ownership, direct or indirect, by a person or 

company referred to in section 23.1 of any securities of the Issuer or any 
Related Person of the Issuer. 

 
23.3 For the purpose of section 23.2, if the ownership is less than one per cent, 

a general statement to that effect shall be sufficient. 
 
23.4 If a person, or a director, officer or employee of a person or company 

referred to in section 23.1 is or is expected to be elected, appointed or 
employed as a director, officer or employee of the Issuer or of any 
associate or affiliate of the Issuer, disclose the fact or expectation. 

 
A Chan and Company LLP, Chartered Accountants, prepared the auditor's report for the 
Issuer’s financial statements for the year ended April 30, 2018. A Chan and Company 
LLP is independent in accordance with the Rules of Professional Conduct of the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of British Columbia. 
 
24. Other Material Facts 
 
24.1 Give particulars of any material facts about the Issuer and its securities 

that are not disclosed under the preceding items and are necessary in 
order for the Listing Statement to contain full, true and plain disclosure of 
all material facts relating to the Issuer and its securities. 

 
To management’s knowledge, there are no other material facts that are not otherwise 
disclosed in this Listing Statement or are necessary for the Listing Statement to contain 
full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the Issuer and its securities.  
 
25. Financial Statements  
 
25.1  Provide the following audited financial statement for the Issuer: 

(a) copies of all financial statements including the auditor's reports 
required to be prepared and filed under applicable securities 
legislation for the preceding three years as if the Issuer were subject 
to such law; and 

 
(b)  a copy of financial statements for any completed interim period of 

the current fiscal year. 
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25.2 For Issuers re-qualifying for listing following a fundamental change provide 
 

(a) the information required in sections 5.1 to 5.3 for the target; 
 
(b) financial statement for the target prepared in accordance with the 

requirements of National Instrument 41-101 General Prospectus 
Requirements as if the target were the Issuer; 

(c) pro-forma consolidated financial statements for the New Issuer giving 
effect to the transaction for: 

 
(i) the last full fiscal year of the Issuer, and 

(ii) any completed interim period of the current fiscal year.  
 
Financial statements required pursuant this section are attached as follows: 
 
SCHEDULE "A" - Audited Financial Statements of Cielo Waste Solutions Corp. for the 
years ended April 30, 2017 and 2018.  
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CERTIFICATE OF THE ISSUER 

Pursuant to a resolution duly passed by its Board of Directors, (full legal name of the 
Issuer), hereby applies for the listing of the above mentioned securities on the Exchange.  
The foregoing contains full, true and plain disclosure of all material information relating to 
(full legal name of the Issuer). It contains no untrue statement of a material fact and does 
not omit to state a material fact that is required to be stated or that is necessary to prevent 
a statement that is made from being false or misleading in light of the circumstances in 
which it was made. 

Dated at  Red Deer, Alberta     

this  23rd  day of  August  ,  2018 . 

 

“Don Allan”   “Shannon Wyzykoski” 

Don Allan, Chief Executive Officer  Shannon Wyzykoski, Chief Financial 
Officer 

   

“Robin Ray”  “Doug MacKenzie” 

Robin Ray, Director  Doug MacKenzie, Director 
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SCHEDULE "A" 

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF CIELO WASTE SOLUTIONS CORP. FOR 
THE YEARS ENDED APRIL 30, 2017 AND 2018 

[see attached] 
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UNIT 114B – 8988 FRASERTON COURT                                              

BURNABY, BC V5J 5H8         
 
T: 604.239.0868                                                      

F: 604.239.0866    
 

                                                               

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

 
 

To the Shareholders of: 

Cielo Waste Solutions Corp.  

 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Cielo Waste Solutions Corp. (the “Company”), which comprise the 

statements of financial position as at April 30, 2018 and April 30, 2017, the statements of loss and comprehensive loss, the 

statements of changes in shareholders’ equity and the statements of cash flows for the years ended April 30, 2018 and April 30, 

2017, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.  

 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

Auditors’ Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.  We conducted our audits in 

accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical 

requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from 

material misstatement. 

 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  

The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 

financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 

relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s  internal 

control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

 

Opinion 
In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as at April 

30, 2018 and April 30, 2017, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years ended April 30, 2018 and April 30, 

2017 then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 
  

Emphasis of Matter 

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 of the financial statements which indicates the existence of a 

material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern.  

 

                                                                                                                       
“A Chan & Company LLP”      

CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS 

 

Burnaby, BC 

August 20, 2018 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

                                 
 

                  A CHAN AND COMPANY LLP 
CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS 



     3 

Cielo Waste Solutions Corp. 

 Statements of financial position 

   
 

 (Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

   
 

 
        Note     April 30, 2018 April 30, 2017 

      Assets 
    

 Current Assets 
     

   Cash 4   
560,891 106,110 

   GST and Other receivable 
   

51,324 12,212 

   Prepaid expenses 
   

156,622 10,750 

Total Current Assets       768,837 129,072 

Non Current Assets 
     

   Property, plant and equipment 5 
  

4,703,885 3,063,594 

   Intellectual property assets 6     1 1 

Total Non Current Assets       4,703,886 3,063,595 

Total Assets       5,472,723 3,192,667 

  
  

 
  

 
Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity  

     
Current Liabilities 

     
   Accounts payable  13 

  
538,679 336,380 

   Accrued liabilities 
   

123,381 48,200 

   Short-term loans payable 7&13 
  

567,756 1,291,602 

   Current portion of long-term loans payable 7 
  

504,295 214,399 

   Current portion of convertible debentures 8                               -    139,347 

    
1,734,111 2,029,928 

Long Term Liabilities 

 
    

   Long term loans payable 7 
  

2,818,686 2,037,345 

   Convertible debentures 8     556,124 591,454 

  
  

5,108,921 4,658,727 

Shareholders’ Equity 
     

   Share capital 9 
  

11,110,880 7,335,414 

   Contributed surplus 10&11 
  

5,504,872 1,024,787 

   Deficit        (16,251,950) (9,826,261) 

Total Shareholders’ Equity       363,802 (1,466,060) 

Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity       5,472,723 3,192,667 

 
Nature and continuance operation and basis of presentation (Note 1 and 2) 

Subsequent events (Note 17) 

Approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on August 20, 2018 

 

 

Signed:   “Don Allan”                                                                                            Signed:       “Robin Ray”                               

Don Allan, President, CEO and Director                                                                                   Director 

 

 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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Cielo Waste Solutions Corp. 

 

  

Statements of loss and comprehensive loss   

 

  

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)   

 

  

Year ended April 30,   2018 2017 

Expense 
   

   Advertising and promotion 
 

$         38,095 $         5,000 

   Amortization on deferred financing charges 
 

47,956 11,589 

   Amortization on property, plant and equipment (Note 5) 
 

170,667 38,372 

   Bad debt 
 

4,186                      -    

   Bank charges 
 

826 997 

   Consulting 
 

323,802             4,463  

   Finance expense (Note 10) 
 

3,300,206                      -    

   Interest and accretion expenses (Note 8) 
 

400,743 143,066 

   Management fees (Note 11) 
 

188,693                      -    

   Office and administrative expenses 
 

139,590 56,772 

   Professional fees 
 

419,715 211,728 

   Share based compensation (Note 11) 
 

948,447 203,024 

   Salaries and benefits (Note13) 
 

220,548 25,721 

   Transfer agent and filing fees 
 

30,476 26,270 

   Travel   27,716 22,320 

Net loss before other items   (6,261,666) (759,322) 

Write-off of payables 
 

11,698 233,606 

Gain (Loss) on settlement of debt with shares (Note 9)   (175,721) 28,411 

Net loss and comprehensive loss for the year 
 

$   (6,425,689) $     (497,305) 

    
Loss per share, basic and diluted 

 
$        ( 0.051 ) $       ( 0.005 ) 

        

    
Weighted average number of outstanding common 

shares 
  125,409,292 96,308,811 

 

   See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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Cielo Waste Solutions Corp.           

Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity          

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars except for number of shares)           

        Contributed Surplus     

  
Number of 

shares 

Share 

Capital 

Shares 

Subscribed 

Options, 

RSU's and 

Warrants 

Other Deficit 

Total 

shareholders' 

equity 

    $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Balance April 30, 2016  91,849,224 6,776,950 32,000 714,321 71,482 (9,328,956) (1,734,203) 

Shares issued for debt settlements 1,550,000 62,000                      -     -   -   -                    62,000  

Shares issued for debt settlements 140,000 4,200                      -     -   -   -                      4,200  

Shares issued for debt settlements 830,000 33,200                      -     -   -   -                    33,200  

Shares issued in facility purchase 5,000,000 200,000                      -     -   -   -                  200,000  

Shares issued for purchase of assets 2,036,364 142,545                      -     -   -   -                  142,545  

Shares issued for debentures t conversion 1,250,000 125,000                      -     -   -   -                  125,000  

Shares distributed for debentures conversion                       -                    -    (32,000)  -   -   -  (32,000) 

Fair values of finders' warrants                       -                    -                         -                     35,960   -                    -                      35,960  

Share based compensation                       -                    -                         -                   203,024   -   -                  203,024  

Share issuance costs                       -    (8,481)                      -     -   -   -  (8,481) 

Net loss for the year                       -                    -                         -     -   -  (497,305) (497,305) 

Balance April 30, 2017 102,655,588 7,335,414                      -    953,305 71,482 (9,826,261) (1,466,060) 

Balance April 30, 2017 102,655,588 7,335,414                      -    953,305 71,482 (9,826,261) (1,466,060) 

Shares issued for private placements (Note 9) 8,500,000 879,000                      -                         -     -   -  879,000 

Shares issued on debentures conversion (Note 9) 1,250,000 125,000                      -                         -     -   -  125,000 

Shares issued on debentures conversion (Note 9) 105,125 10,513                      -                         -     -   -  10,513 

Shares issued for private placements (Note 9) 5,500,000 550,000                      -                         -     -   -  550,000 

Shares issued for private placements (Note 9) 8,832,360 1,030,530                      -                         -     -   -  1,030,530 

Shares issued on debentures conversion (Note 9) 625,000 62,500                      -                         -     -   -  62,500 

Shares issued on debt settlements (Note 9) 162,833 19,540                      -                         -     -   -  19,540 

Shares issued for private placements (Note 9) 9,900,000 990,000                      -                         -     -   -  990,000 

Shares issued for private placements (Note 9) 1,538,461 200,000                      -                         -     -   -  200,000 

Shares issued on debentures conversion (Note 9) 1,122,916 112,292                      -                         -     -   -  112,292 

Share based compensation (Note 11)                      -                         -                         -                   948,447   -   -  948,447 

Warrants issued  for financing (Note 10)                      -                         -                         -                3,300,206   -   -  3,300,206 

Fair values of finders' warrants (Note 10)                      -                         -                         -                     42,739   -   -  42,739 

RSU vesting (Note 11)                      -                         -                         -                   188,693   -   -  188,693 

Share issuance costs (Note 9 & 10)                      -    (203,909)                      -                         -     -   -  (203,909) 

Net loss for the year                      -                         -                         -                         -     -  (6,425,689) (6,425,689) 

Balance April 30, 2018 140,192,283 11,110,880                      -    5,433,390 71,482 (16,251,950) 363,802 

 

 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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Cielo Waste Solutions Corp.  
Statements of Cash Flows     

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)     

Year ended April 30,           2018        2017 

Cash (used in) provided by:            $                     $ 

    Operating activities 

  Loss for the year (6,425,689) (497,305) 

    Adjustments for: 

         Amortization on property, plant and equipment 170,667 38,372 

       Bad debt 4,186 - 

       (Gain) loss on settlement of debts with shares 175,721 (28,411) 

       Write-off of payables 11,698 (233,606) 

       Finance expense 3,300,206 - 

       Stock based compensation 948,447 203,024 

       RSU vesting 188,693 - 

       Amortization on deferred financing costs 47,956 11,589 

       Accrued interest and accretion expenses 119,731 143,065 

 
(1,458,384) (363,272) 

Changes in non-cash operating working capital 

        Other receivable (39,112) (1,583) 

      Prepaid Expenses (145,872) (5,117) 

      Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 499,815 110,828 

Cash used in operating activities (1,143,553) (259,144) 

Financing activities 

        Short term loans (336,370) 251,395 

 
 Long term loans and convertible debentures 3,353,576 697,293 

      Repayments on long term loans (1,971,744) - 

 
 Share issuance for cash 2,525,000 - 

 
 Share issuance costs (161,170) (8,481) 

 
 Financing cost incurred - (23,200) 

Cash provided by financing activities 3,409,292 917,007 

Investing activities 

  
 

 Purchase of property, plant and equipment (1,810,958) (559,553) 

Cash provided by investing activities (1,810,958) (559,553) 

   Increase (decrease) in cash  454,781 98,310 

Cash, beginning of year 106,110 7,800 

Cash, end of year 560,891 106,110 

Non-cash activities:                 $                       $ 

     Shares issued for debentures conversion 310,305 125,000 

     Fair value of warrants issued for financing 3,300,206 - 

     Fair value of shares issued for debt settlements                         1,144,070                                 99,400  

     Fair value of shares issued for assets                              -    342,545 

     Fair value of broker warrants issued                              42,739    35,960 

     Accrual for fair value of restricted share units not yet vested 188,693 - 

 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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1.    NATURE AND CONTINUANCE OF OPERATIONS 

 

Cielo Gold Corp. (“Cielo” or the “Company”) was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act 

(British Columbia) on February 2, 2011 as a wholly owned subsidiary of Arris Holdings Inc. (“AHI”). 

and changed its name to Cielo Waste Solutions Corp. on August 12, 2013 to more clearly identify its 

focus on renewable diesel and waste solutions. Pursuant to an arrangement agreement with AHI dated 

March 1 2011 and the supplement to the arrangement agreement dated June 9, 2011, (collectively the 

“Arrangement Agreement”), the Company spun out from AHI and became a reporting issuer after the 

Arrangement Agreement became effective on June 9, 2011 (“Effective Date’). Commencing August 3, 

2011, the Company’s common shares started trading on Canadian Stock Exchange (“CSE”) under the 

Symbol CMC. The principal and registered office of the Company is located at #101 – 1500 Howe 

Street, Vancouver BC V6Z 2N1. 

Originally a mineral property acquisition and development company, a change in the board of directors 

in June 2013 resulted in a new direction for the Company. The Company's strategic focus has turned to 

the refining of municipal and construction waste into a renewable diesel fuel.   

These financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting principles applicable to a 

going concern which assumes the Company will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities 

in the normal course of business rather than through a process of forced liquidation. At April 30, 2018, 

the Company had not yet achieved profitable operations, had accumulated losses of $16,251,950 since 

its inception, and had a working capital deficit of $(965,274), which may not be sufficient to sustain 

operations over the foreseeable future. The Company expects to incur further losses in the development 

of its business, all of which casts significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going 

concern.  In the year ended April 30, 2018, the Company completed a private placement offering of 

32,732,360 units for gross proceeds of $3,273,236, each unit consisting of one common share and one 

half of one share purchase warrant exercisable for one year at $0.20 per warrant (subject to 

acceleration).  The Company also completed a private placement offering of 1,538,461 common shares 

for gross proceeds of $200,000.  The Company also obtained a credit facility to a maximum of 

$3,500,000.  Subsequent to year end, the Company completed an early warrant exercise incentive 

program designed to encourage the early exercise of up to 16,366,180 unlisted warrants. 10,162,500 

warrants were exercised for gross proceeds of $2,032,500.  The Company’s operations, as intended, and 

its financial success may be dependent upon the successful commercial start-up of its renewable diesel 

refinery and the economic viability of developing refineries based on the Company’s technology.  

 

These financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and 

classification of recorded asset amounts and classification of liabilities that might be necessary should 

the Company be unable to continue in existence. 

 

2. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION  

 

a) Statement of Compliance 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance and compliance with International 

Financial Reporting as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and 

interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”). 

 

 

 



CIELO WASTE SOLUTIONS CORP. 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

Year Ended April 30, 2017 and 2018 

(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
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2. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION (continued) 

 

(b) Basis of preparation  

These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Company’s functional and 

reporting currency. These financial statements are prepared on a historical cost basis except for financial 

instruments classified as fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), which are stated at their fair value.  

 

3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

a) Significant accounting judgments and estimates 

The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make judgements and estimates 

that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and 

reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period.  Actual outcomes could differ from these 

judgements and estimates. The financial statements include judgements and estimates which, by their 

nature, are uncertain.  The impacts of such judgements and estimates are pervasive throughout the 

financial statements, and may require accounting adjustments based on future occurrences.  Revisions to 

accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and the revision affects 

both current and future periods.  

Significant assumptions about the future and other sources of judgements and estimates that management 

has made at the statement of financial position date, that could result in a material adjustment to the 

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities, in the event that actual results differ from assumptions made, 

relate to, but are not limited to, the following:  

Going concern 

The assessment of the Company’s ability to execute its strategy by funding future working capital 

requirements involves judgment. The directors monitor future cash requirements to assess the Company’s 

ability to meet these future funding requirements. 

Present value of long-term liabilities 

In assessing the fair value of long-term liabilities without interest or interest rate below market or with 

conversion features using effective interest rate method, management has to exercise judgment to 

determine the effective interest rate based on market and risk. 

Income taxes 

In assessing the probability of realizing income tax assets, management makes estimates related to 

expectations of future taxable income, applicable tax opportunities, expected timing of reversals of 

existing temporary differences and the likelihood that tax positions taken will be sustained upon 

examination by applicable tax authorities. In making its assessments, management gives additional 

weight to positive and negative evidence that can be objectively verified. 

Share-based payments  

The estimation of share-based payment costs requires the selection of an appropriate valuation model and 

consideration as to the inputs necessary for the valuation model chosen. The Company has made 

estimates as to the expected volatility of its own shares, the expected life of stock options granted, the 

estimated number of stock options expected to vest and the expected time of exercise of those stock 

options. The model used by the Company is the Black-Scholes option pricing valuation model. 
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

b) Cash equivalents 

 

Cash equivalents are comprised of all short-term investments that are highly liquid in nature, cashable, 

and have an original maturity date of three months or less.  As at April 30, 2018 and 2017, there were no 

cash equivalents. 

 

c) The Company records property, plant and equipment at cost less accumulated amortization and 

accumulated impairment losses.  It recognizes amortization to write off the cost of assets less their 

residual values over their useful lives, using the following methods and rates: 

 

                           Construction in Progress        no amortization until completion 

      Computer        30%declining balance  

 Equipment                              10% declining balance 

 Building         4% declining balance 

                      

An item of property, plant and equipment is de-recognized upon disposal or when no future economic 

benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.  Any gain or loss arising on disposal of 

the asset, determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the 

asset, is recognized in profit or loss. 

 

d) Shared-based payments 

 

Share based payments to employees are measured at the fair value of the instruments issued and amortized 

over the relevant vesting periods. Share based payments to non-employees are measured at the fair value 

of goods or services received or the fair value of the equity instruments issued, if it is determined the fair 

value of the goods or services cannot be reliably measured, and are recorded at the date the goods or 

services are received. The fair value of options is determined using a Black-Scholes pricing model. The 

number of shares and options expected to vest is reviewed and adjusted at the end of each reporting period 

such that the amount recognized for services received as consideration for the equity instruments granted 

shall be based on the number of equity instruments that eventually vest. 

 

The Company has a restricted share unit (“RSU”) plan (the “RSU Plan”) for certain directors, officers, 

consultants and employees of the Company.  The equity-settled share-based compensation is measured at 

the fair value of the Company’s common shares as at the grant date using a volume weighted average 

share price in accordance with the terms of the RSU Plan. The fair value determined at the grant date is 

charged to income on a straight line basis over the vesting period, based on the estimate of the number of 

RSUs that will eventually vest and be converted to common shares by the holder or payable in cash to the 

holder at the Company’s option, as applicable, with a corresponding increase in equity (share-based 

compensation reserve). As necessary, the Company revises its estimate if subsequent information 

indicates that the number of RSUs expected to vest differs from previous estimates. On the vesting date, 

the Company revises the estimate to equal the number of equity instruments that ultimately vested. The 

impact of the revision of estimates, if any, is recognized in income or expense such that the cumulative 

expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share-based compensation 

reserve. 
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

e) Deferred income taxes 

 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognized in profit or loss except 

to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity.  Current tax expense is the expected tax 

payable on taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at period end, 

adjusted for amendments to tax payable with regards to previous years. 

 

Deferred tax is recorded using the liability method, providing for temporary differences, between the 

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for 

taxation purposes. Temporary differences are not provided for relating to goodwill not deductible for tax 

purposes, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affects neither accounting nor taxable loss, and 

differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the 

foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realization or 

settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted 

at the balance sheet date. 

 

A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 

available against which the asset can be utilized.  

 

f) Valuation of equity units issued in private placements  

 

The Company has adopted a residual value method with respect to the measurement of shares and 

warrants issued as private placement units. The residual value method first allocates value to the most 

easily measurable component based on fair value and then the residual value, if any, to the less easily 

measurable component. 

 

g) Share issuance costs  

 

Professional, consulting, regulatory and other costs directly attributable to financing transactions are 

recorded as deferred financing costs until the financing transactions are completed, if the completion of 

the transaction is considered likely; otherwise they are expensed as incurred. Share issue costs are 

charged to share capital when the related shares are issued. Deferred financing costs related to financing 

transactions that are not completed are charged to expenses 

 

h) Earnings (loss) per share 

 

Basic earnings (loss) per share are computed by dividing the net earnings (loss) available to common 

shareholders by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the reporting period.  Diluted 

earnings (loss) per share is computed similar to basic earnings (loss) per share except that the weighted 

average share outstanding are increased to include additional shares for the assumed exercise of stock 

options and warrants, if dilutive. The number of additional shares is calculated by assuming that 

outstanding stock options and warrants were exercised and that the proceeds from such exercises were 

used to acquire common stock at the average market price during the reporting periods. In a loss year, 

potentially dilutive common shares are excluded from the loss per share calculation as the effect would 

be anti-dilutive. Basic and diluted losses per share are the same for the periods presented. 
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

i) Financial instruments  

 

All financial instruments are recorded initially at fair value.  In subsequent periods, all financial 

instruments are measured based on the classification adopted for the financial instruments: held to 

maturity, loans and receivables, fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), available-for-sale, FVTPL 

liabilities or other liabilities.  

 

FVTPL assets and liabilities are subsequently measured at fair value with the change in the fair value 

recognized in net income (loss) during the period. 

 

Held to maturity assets, loans and receivable, and other liabilities are subsequently measured at 

amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.  

 

Available for sale assets are subsequently measured at fair value with the change in fair value recorded in  

other comprehensive income (loss), except for equity instruments without a quoted market price in active  

markets and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured, which are measured at cost. 

 

The Company has classified its financial instruments as follows: 

 

Financial Instrument Classification 

Cash    FVTPL 

Other receivable  Loan and receivable 

Accounts payable & accrued liabilities Other liabilities 

Short-term and long-term loans payable Other liabilities 

Convertible debentures Other liabilities 

A financial asset and a financial liability should be offset, and the net amount reported when, and only 

when, the Company has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts, and intends either to settle on a 

net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

 

j) Convertible debentures 

Convertible debentures with both a liability and an equity component from the Company's perspective 

are accounted for and presented separately according to their substance based on the definitions of 

liability and equity. The split is made at issuance and not revised for subsequent changes in market 

interest rates, share prices, or other event that changes the likelihood that the conversion option will be 

exercised. A financial liability represents the Company's contractual obligation to pay cash, and the other 

is an equity instrument, represents the holder's option to convert into common shares. When the initial 

carrying amount of a compound financial instrument is required to be allocated to its equity and liability 

components, the equity component is assigned the residual amount after deducting from the fair value of 

the instrument as a whole the amount separately determined for the liability component. 

Interest, dividends, gains, and losses relating to an instrument classified as a liability should be reported 

in profit or loss. On the other hand, those relating to holders of a financial instrument classified as equity 

should be charged directly against equity, not against earnings. 
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

j) Convertible debentures (continued) 

 

Transaction costs of an equity transaction are deducted from equity. Transaction costs related to an issue 

of a compound financial instrument are allocated to the liability and equity components in proportion to 

the allocation of proceeds. 

k) Impairment 

 

i) Non-financial assets 

 

The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets, other than deferred income tax assets, 

are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment.  If 

any such indication exists, then the assets’ recoverable amount is estimated. 

 

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates 

cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or 

group of assets (the “cash-generating unit”). 

 

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of a cash-generating unit exceeds its 

estimated recoverable amount.  The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the 

greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated 

future cost flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 

current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the assets.  

Impairment losses are recognized in net income (loss). 

 

Impairment losses recognized in prior years are assessed at each reporting date for any indications 

that the loss has decreased or no longer exists.  An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a 

change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.  An impairment loss is reversed 

only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would 

have been determined, net of depreciation, if no impairment loss has been recognized. 

 

             ii) Financial assets 

 

A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to 

determine whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired.  A financial asset is impaired if 

objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, 

and that the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can 

be estimated reliably. 

 

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortized cost is calculated as the 

difference between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows 

discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate.  Losses are recognized in net income (loss) 

and reflected in an allowance account against receivables.  When a subsequent event causes the 

amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through net 

income (loss). 
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
 

l) Intangible assets 
 

Intangible assets are amortized over the estimated useful life of each asset unless the life is determined to 

be indefinite. An intangible asset with an indefinite life is not amortized but will be tested for impairment 

annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset might be 

impaired. 
 

An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying value of intangible asset exceeds the estimated 

undiscounted future cash flow expected to result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition. 

The amount of the impairment loss to be recorded is calculated by the excess of the asset's carrying value 

over its fair value. Fair value is generally determined using a discounted cash flow analysis. 
 

m) Provisions 
 

Provisions are recorded when a present legal or constructive obligation exists because of past events 

where it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 

the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. 
 

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the 

present obligation at the statement of financial position date, considering the risks and uncertainties 

surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the 

present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows. When some or all of the 

economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the 

receivable is recognized as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received, and the 

amount receivable can be measured reliably.  
 

n) Research and development expenditures  
 

Expenditures during the research phase are expensed as incurred. Expenditures during the development 

phase are capitalized if the Company can demonstrate each of the following criteria are met: i) the 

technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, ii) its 

intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it, iii) its ability to use or sell the intangible 

asset, iv) how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits, v) the availability of 

adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the 

intangible asset, and vi) its ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset 

during its development; otherwise they are expensed as incurred. The Company assesses whether it has 

met the relevant criteria for deferral and amortization at each reporting date. 

 

o) Changes in accounting policies and recent accounting pronouncements  
 

The following standards have been issued but are not yet effective: 
 

(i) Financial instruments  
 

The IASB has issued IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”) which intends to replace IAS 39 – 

Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (“IAS 39”) in its entirety with three main phases. 

IFRS 9 will be the new standard for the financial reporting of financial instruments. The IASB tentatively 

decided to defer the mandatory effective date until January 1, 2018 with earlier adoption still permitted. 

The Company will evaluate the impact the final standard will have on its financial statements based on 

the characteristics of its financial instruments at the time of adoption. The Company is currently 

evaluating the impact of the standard on its financial performance and financial statements disclosures 

but expects that such impact will not be material.  
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

o) Changes in accounting policies and recent accounting pronouncements (continued) 
 

(ii) Revenue 
 

A new standard establish principles for reporting the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue 

and cash flows arising from an entity’s contracts with customers. It provides a single model in order to 

depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers. IFRS 15 is effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after January 1, 2018. 

 

(iii) Leases 

On January 13, 2016 the IASB issued IFRS 16, Leases. The new standard is effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after January 1, 2019. Earlier application is permitted for entities that apply IFRS 15, 

Revenue from Contracts with Customers at or before the date of initial adoption of IFRS 16. IFRS 16 will 

replace IAS 17, Leases. This standard introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee 

to recognize assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying 

asset is of low value. A lessee is required to recognize a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the 

underlying asset and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments. This standard 

substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements of IAS 17, while requiring enhanced 

disclosures to be provided by the lessor. The extent of the impact of the adoption of the standard has not 

yet been determined by the Company. 

4. CASH 

 

     April 30, 2018     April 30, 2017  

Cash    560,891   106,110 

    560,891   106,110 

 

There is no cash equivalent as at April 30, 2018 and 2017. 

 

5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  

 

April 30, 2018   

 

April 30, 2017   

        

 

Costs Accumulated 

Amortization 

Total 

 

Costs Accumulated 

Amortization 

Total 

Land 755,841 - 755,841  755,841 - 755,841 

Building 931,499 37,652 893,847  931,499 408 931,091 

Computer 24,126 - 24,126  - - - 

Equipment 672,339 69,303 603,036  672,339 2,300 670,039 

Construction in 

progress 

1,829,251 - 1,829,251  42,419 - 42,419 

Plant 699,868 102,084 597,784  699,868 35,664 664,204 

 

4,912,924 209,039 4,703,885  3,101,966 38,372 3,063,594 
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5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 

 

The Company entered into an asset purchase agreement dated February 14, 2017 with XR Resources Inc. 

(“XR”) to purchase equipment, including a Case W20C front wheel loader and laboratory equipment. In 

consideration, the Company issued 2,036,364 common shares of the Company at a fair value of $142,545.   

 

The Company completed the purchase of land with an existing idle bio-diesel refinery located on it in High 

River, Alberta (“High River Property”) from XR in April 2017. The purchase price consisted of 5,000,000 

common shares of the Company (issued) at a fair value of $200,000, a vendor take-back mortgage of 

$1,500,000 (the “Mortgage”) and $500,000 cash payments (paid). The Mortgage was subject to interest, at a 

rate of 12% per annum, calculated monthly, and a General Security Agreement against the High River 

Property, including all physical improvements but excluding intellectual property. The Mortgage payments 

were agreed to be as follow: a monthly payment of interest only for the period from April 21, 2017 to May 

16, 2017 of $12,238.75, $15,000 on June 16, 2017 and monthly payments of principal and interest of 

$35,492.70 on July 16, 2017 and continuing on the 16th of each month thereafter to and including the 16th 

days of January 2022 at which time the balance of outstanding principal and interest was to be due and 

payable. The Company incurred the related legal costs of $17,134. A total purchase price of $2,217,134 was 

allocated as follows: $755,841 to land, $931,499 to building and $529,794 to equipment. During the year 

ended April 30, 2018, the Mortgage was repaid.  

 

6. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY ASSETS 

 

As at April 30, 2016, the Company concluded that, due to the assets being in an idle stage waiting for further 

development, the intellectual property has been impaired, and the value should have been written down to $1. 

The impairment evaluation as at April 30, 2018 remains the same.  

 

7. SHORT-TERM AND LONG-TERM LOANS PAYABLE 

 

Short-term Loan: The balance of short-term loans payable as at April 30, 2018 is comprised of the following: 

 

$30,138 in loans from third parties (2017-$104,834). These are unsecured and due on demand with interest at 

prime rate plus 10% to 12% per annum. A total of $735 (2017-$15,334) in interest on these loans has been 

accrued as at April 30, 2018.  

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     

$537,618 in loans from related parties as below:      

 

 
April 30, 2018 

 
April 30, 2017 

Group of Blue Horizon companies (“BH”) $             - 
 

$   223,967 

Doug Allan, related to Don Allan - 
 

302,000 

1888711 Alberta Inc. 45,817 
 

165,449 

Don Allan 381,291 
 

390,221 

Don Allan – Note payable matures, due on 

demand, at annual interest of 5% starting from 

May 1, 2016 

110,510 
 

105,131 

 
$  537,618 

 
$ 1,186,768 
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7.  SHORT-TERM AND LONG-TERM LOANS PAYABLE (continued) 

 

These loans are/were unsecured, non-interest bearing and due on demand except for the $100,000 loan, 

which is 5% interest bearing. A total of $10,509 (2017-$5,131) in interest on these related party loans has 

been accrued as at April 30, 2018.  BH and 1888 are related by common officers or directors (i.e. Don Allan 

is a director and officer of BH and 1888). 
 

These short-term loans were presented at their carrying amount because they are due on demand and their 

amortized costs are not measurable without fixed terms.  The short-term loan presented at its carrying amount 

because it is due within the next twelve months and the fair value is approximately the principle with the 

interest payable amount. 
 

Long-term loans: The balance of long-term loans payable as at April 30, 2018 is comprised of the following: 
 

 
April 30, 2018 

 
April 30, 2017 

    

A secured interest bearing loan, at annual rate of 12%, to be matured on June 1, 

2022 (See Note 7(a)). 
$  3,500,000  $                   - 

    

A secured interest bearing loan, at annual rate of 12%, to be matured on 

January 16, 2022. This loan was repaid during the year ended April 30, 2018 

(See Note 7(b)). 

-  1,500,000 

    

A secured interest bearing loan, at annual rate of 18%, to be matured on 

October 30, 2021. This loan was repaid during the year ended April 30, 2018 

(See Note 7(c)). 

  751,744 

Total long-term loans payable   3,500,000      2,251,744  

Less: deferred financing costs (177,019)  - 

Less: current portion of long-term loans payable (504,295) 
 

(214,399) 

 

  

 

  

Long-term loans payable $   2,818,686 

 

$   2,037,345 
   

  

 

  

2019 $      504,295 

  2020 885,769 

  2021 999,441 

  2022 1,110,495 

  

 

$   3,500,000 

    

(a) On November 2, 2017 the Company entered into a loan agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) with BJK Holdings 

Ltd (the “Lender”), which expires on June 1, 2022. The Loan Agreement permits the Company to draw up to 

$3,500,000 (the “Credit Facility”) until September 30, 2018, to be used by Cielo primarily for the conversion of its 

first commercial refinery (the “Commercial Refinery”) on its property in High River, Alberta (the “Property”).  

The Credit Facility is structured as a non-revolving line of credit with security held by the Lender over all assets, 

including the Property and all other real property of Cielo, subordinating and postponing the indebtedness of all 

other lenders of Cielo.  The Credit Facility bears simple interest at 12% annually. Payments of interest only are 

payable until September 30th, 2018, after which time regular payments of principal together with interest will 

become payable until the loaned monies owing under the Credit Facility mature in June 2022. Cielo is able to 

repay the amounts owing under the Credit Facility without penalty any time after September 30th, 2018.   As at 

April 30, 2018, Cielo has drawn the full $3,500,000 available amount of the Credit Facility.  As partial 

consideration for the Credit Facility, Cielo has issued 25,000,000 bonus warrants (the “Warrant(s)”) to the Lender, 

each Warrant exercisable to purchase one common share of Cielo at an exercise price of $0.20 (the “Exercise 

Price”), subject to adjustments for any reorganizations or dilutive events during the term of the Warrants.  (See 

Note 10). 
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7. SHORT-TERM AND LONG-TERM LOANS PAYABLE (continued) 

 

(b) Mortgage with XR Resources Inc. (Note 5) at an interest rate of 12% per annum, calculated monthly, and a 

General Security against the High River Property, including all physical improvements but excluding intellectual 

property. A monthly payment of interest only for the period from April 21, 2017 to May 16, 2017 of $12,238.75, 

$15,000 on June 16, 2017 and monthly payments of principal and interest of $35,492.70 on July 16, 2017 and 

continuing on the 16th of each month thereafter to and including the 16th days of January 2022 at which time the 

balance of outstanding principal and interest would be due and payable. This loan was repaid in November 2017. 

 
(c) Mortgage with FS Business Enterprises Inc. at an interest rate of 18% per annum and expires on October 30, 2021. 

The Company has an option for a period of five years, concluding on October 30, 2021, to purchase the equipment 

secured by this mortgage and the option shall be automatically exercised upon the repayment in full of an amount 

equal to $699,868 together with all unpaid accrued interest. The Mortgage is secured by all present and after 

acquired property of the Company to a maximum of $500,000 and a purchase money security interest in the 

equipment.  This loan was repaid in November 2017. 

  

A total of $51,225 (2017 - $4,742) in interest on these long-term loans have been accrued as at April 30, 

2018.  

 

8. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES 

  

April 30, 2018 

 

April 30, 2017 

Convertible debentures at an interest rate of 12.5% 
 

- 
 

150,000 

Convertible debentures at an interest rate of 15.0% 
 

500,000 
 

610,000 

Discount on convertible debentures 
 

- 
 

(1,060) 

Deferred financing costs 
 

(30,379) 
 

(56,992) 

Accrued interest 
 

86,503 
 

28,853 

  
556,124 

 
730,801 

Less current portion 

 

-  (139,347) 

  

  

 

  

  

556,124 

 

            591,454  
 

During the year-ended April 30, 2016, the Company issued a total of $250,000 of convertible debentures 

(the “2016 Convertible Debentures”).  The 2016 Convertible Debentures would mature two (2) years 

from the date of issuance, carry an interest rate of 12.5% per annum, and be convertible at the option of 

the holder at a price of $0.10 per common share of the Company.  The amortized cost of the long-term 

liability component was accounted for using the effective interest rate method at 14.85% per annum.  

The equity component was assigned the residual amount of $6,027 after deducting the financing cost of 

$6,935 and was allocated to the liability component only as the allocation to the equity component was 

immaterial. $100,000 of the 2016 Convertible Debentures were converted into common shares of the 

Company during the years ended April 30, 2017. 
 

During the year-ended April 30, 2017, the Company issued a total of $610,000 of convertible debentures 

(the “2017 Convertible Debentures”).  The 2017 Convertible Debentures would mature three (3) years 

from the date of issuance, carry an interest rate of 15% per annum, and be convertible at the option of 

the holder at a price of $0.10 per common share of the Company. Unconverted 2017 Convertible 

Debentures were subordinated and postponed on November 2, 2017 pursuant to the terms of the Credit 

Facility.  The term was extended to the date of repayment of the Credit Facility, up to June 2022.  

Holders may continue to convert the 2017 Convertible Debentures at any time during the term upon 

notice. 
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8. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES (continued) 

 

During the year ended April 30, 2018, $260,000 of convertible debentures (the remaining $150,000 of 

the 2016 Convertible Debentures and $110,000 of the 2017 Convertible Debentures) and $50,304 of 

interest accrued on the debentures were converted to 3,103,041 common shares. 

 

The foregoing convertible debentures are secured by general security agreements. 

 

Accretion expenses on above convertible debentures of $1,060 was charged to the operation during the 

year ended April 30, 2018 (2017-$5,213). 

 

Interest expenses on the above convertible debentures of $57,650 was charged to the operation during 

the year ended April 30, 2018 (2017-$42,060). 

 

Total deferred financing costs of $Nil were incurred for the year ended April 30, 2018 (2017 - $59,160) 

and $26,614 was charged to the operation during the year ended April 30, 2018 (2017-$11,589). 

 
9.    SHARE CAPITAL  

        

 a. Authorized: - unlimited number of Class A common shares without par value; and 

 - unlimited number of Class B preferred shares without par value (none issued and     

                                     outstanding). 

        

 b. Issued and Outstanding: 
   

(i) On June 17, 2016, the Company issued 1,550,000 common shares at a fair value of $62,000 

using the closing trade price on the same date, to settle debt of $77,500 which resulted in a 

gain of $15,500. 

(ii) On July 4, 2016, the Company issued 140,000 common shares at a fair value of $4,200 using 

the closing trade price on the same date, to settle debt of $7,000 which resulted in a gain of 

$2,800. 

(iii) On October 27, 2016, the Company issued 830,000 common shares at a fair value of $33,200 

using the closing trade price on the same date, to settle debt of $41,500 which resulted in a 

gain of $8,300. 

(iv) On November 17, 2016, the Company issued 5,000,000 common shares at a fair value of 

$200,000 using the closing trade price on the same date. These shares were issued as a part 

of a purchase of property, plant and equipment (Note 5). 

(v) On March 17, 2017, the Company issued 2,036,364 common shares at a fair value of 

$142,545 to purchase equipment (Note 5). 

(vi) On April 5, 2017, the Company issued 1,250,000 common shares as the result of the 

conversion of convertible debentures of $125,000. 

(vii) On July 17, 2017, the Company issued 8,500,000 common shares through a non-brokered 

private placement offering of units, each unit consisting of one common share and one half of 

one share purchase warrant, at a subscription price of $0.10 per unit. 2,700,000 of these 

shares were issued for cash and 5,800,000 shares were issued at a fair value of $0.105 per 

unit to settle debts of $580,000. A loss of $29,000 resulted from these debt settlements. 

Warrants were assigned a value of $Nil based on the residual value method. 

(viii) On July 17, 2017, the Company issued 1,250,000 common shares as the result of the 

conversion of convertible debentures of $100,000 and accrued interest of $25,000. 
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9.    SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 

 

(ix) On August 3, 2017, the Company issued 105,125 common shares as the result of the 

conversion of convertible debentures of $10,000 and accrued interest of $513. 

(x) On August 31, 2017, the Company issued 5,500,000 common shares through a non-brokered 

private placement offering of units, each consisting of one common share and one half of one 

share purchase warrant, at a subscription price of $0.10 per unit. All shares were issued for 

cash of $550,000. Warrants were assigned a value of $Nil based on the residual value 

method. The Company paid an 8% cash and warrant commission ($42,400 cash and 424,000 

finders’ warrants (Note 10)). 

(xi) On September 21, 2017, the Company issued 8,832,360 common shares through a non-

brokered private placement offering of units, each consisting of one common share and one 

half of one share purchase warrant, at a subscription price of $0.10 per unit. 5,150,000 of 

these shares were issued for cash of $515,000 and 3,682,360 shares were issued to settle 

debts of $368,236.  Using the trading value on the same date, a loss of $147,294 resulted 

from these debt settlements. Warrants were assigned a value of $Nil based on the residual 

value method. (Notes 10 &13) 

(xii) On October 6, 2017, the Company issued 625,000 common shares as the result of the 

conversion of convertible debentures of $50,000 and accrued interest of $12,500. 

(xiii) On October 6, 2017, the Company issued 162,833 common shares at a price of $0.12 per 

share to settle debts to a related party (Note 13) of $19,540. Using the trading value on the 

same date, no gain or loss resulted from these debt settlements. 

(xiv) On November 8, 2017, the Company issued 9,900,000 common shares through a non-

brokered private placement offering of units, each consisting of one common share and one 

half of one share purchase warrant, at a subscription price of $0.10 per unit. All of the units 

were issued for cash of $990,000. Warrants were assigned a value of $Nil based on the 

residual value method. The Company paid cash commissions totaling $84,076. 

(xv) On December 12, 2017, the Company issued 1,538,461 common shares through a non-

brokered private placement issuance of common shares, at a subscription price of $0.13 per 

share. All of the common shares were issued for cash of $200,000.  

(xvi) On January 25, 2018, the Company issued 1,122,916 common shares as the result of the 

conversion of convertible debentures of $100,000 and accrued interest of $12,292. 
 

10. WARRANTS 
 

On July 17, 2017, the Company issued 4,250,000 warrants through a non-brokered private placement 

offering of 8,500,000 units, each unit comprised of one common share and one half of one share 

purchase warrant. Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share at an exercise price of 

$0.20 per common share with an expiry date of July 17, 2018 (subject to earlier termination upon the 

terms of the warrants). Warrants were assigned a value of $Nil based on the residual value method. 
 

On August 31, 2017, the Company issued 2,750,000 warrants through a brokered placement offering of 

5,500,000 units, each unit comprised of one common share and one half of one share purchase warrant. 

Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share at an exercise price of $0.20 per 

common share with an expiry date of August 31, 2018 (subject to earlier termination upon the terms of 

the warrants). Warrants were assigned a value of $Nil based on the residual value method. 
 

 

 

 

 



CIELO WASTE SOLUTIONS CORP. 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

Year Ended April 30, 2017 and 2018 

(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 

     20 

10. WARRANTS (continued) 

 

On August 31, 2017, the Company issued 424,000 finders’ share purchase warrants related to the 

August 31, 2017 non-brokered private placements (Note 9). Each finder warrant entitles the holder to 

purchase one common share at a price of $0.10 per common share with an expiry date of August 31, 

2018.  The fair value of the warrants, calculated using the valuation technique, the Black Scholes Option 

Pricing Model, was $42,739. Assumptions used in the option pricing model were as follows: average 

risk-free interest rate – 1.26%; expected life – 1 year; expected volatility – 178.08%; and expected 

dividends – nil.  The fair value of $42,739 for finders’ warrants was allocated to share issuance costs as 

a reduction in the statements of shareholders’ equity for the year ended April 30, 2018. 

 

On September 21, 2017, the Company issued 4,416,180 warrants through a non-brokered private 

placement offering of 8,832,360 units, each unit consisting of one common share and one half of one 

share purchase warrant (Note 9). Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share at an 

exercise price of $0.20 per common share with an expiry date of September 21, 2018 (subject to earlier 

termination upon the terms of the warrants). Warrants were assigned a value of $Nil based on the 

residual value method. 

 

On November 2, 2017, the company issued 25,000,000 warrants to BJK Holdings Ltd. (the “Lender”) 

pursuant to the terms of a loan agreement dated November 2, 2017 (Note 7(a)).  At the time of issuance, 

each warrant was exercisable to purchase one common share of Cielo at an exercise price of $0.20 (the 

“Exercise Price”), subject to adjustments for any reorganizations or dilutive events during the term of 

the Warrants.  In accordance with the terms of the warrants, in the event that Cielo issues additional 

common shares at a price (or convertible securities with an exercise price) lower than the Exercise Price 

or the market price at the time, whichever is higher, the Lender will be entitled to receive additional 

securities at a slightly decreased price, subject to the maximums and terms imposed by the Canadian 

Securities Exchange. As a result, the Lender had 25,552,649 Warrants as at April 30, 2018 with an 

Exercise Price of $0.1957.  The Warrants expire on the earlier of (i) November 2, 2022 and (ii) the later 

of (A) November 2, 2019 and (B) 30 days following full repayment of the corresponding loan, but not 

later than 5 years from the issuance date.   The fair value of the warrants, which was calculated using the 

valuation technique, the Black Scholes Option Pricing Model, was $3,300,206. Assumptions used in the 

option pricing model were as follows: average risk-free interest rate – 1.64%; expected life – 5 year; 

expected volatility – 248.35%; and expected dividends – nil.  The fair value of $3,300,206 for the 

warrants was charged to finance expense in the statements of loss and comprehensive loss for the year 

ended April 30, 2018. 

 

On November 8, 2017, the Company issued 4,950,000 warrants through a non-brokered private 

placement offering of 9,900,000 units, each unit consisting of one common share and one half of one 

share purchase warrant (Note 9). Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share at an 

exercise price of $0.20 per common share with an expiry date of November 8, 2018 (subject to earlier 

termination in accordance with the terms of the warrants). Warrants were assigned a value of $Nil based 

on the residual value method. 

 

Continuity of the Company’s share purchase warrants (excluding broker/finder warrants) is as follows: 
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10. WARRANTS (continued) 
 

  Number 
Weighted average 

exercise price 

Balance, April 30, 2017 215,666 $0.25 

    Issuance-July 17, 2017 4,250,000 $0.20 

    Issuance-August 31, 2017 2,750,000 $0.20 

    Issuance-September 21, 2017 4,416,180 $0.20 

    Issuance-November 2, 2017 25,552,649 $0.20 

    Issuance-November 8, 2017 4,950,000 $0.20 

    Expired/cancelled-July 16, 2017 (215,666) $0.25 

Balance, April 30, 2018 41,918,829 $0.20 

 
The above warrants have a weighted average remaining life of 2.90 years. 
 

As at April 30, 2018, the Company had share purchase warrants (excluding broker/finder warrants) 
outstanding enabling holders to acquire the following: 
 

Number of  Exercise Price Expiry 

  warrants per Share ($) Date
1
  

4,250,000 0.20 July 17, 2018 

2,750,000 0.20 August 31, 2018 

4,416,180 0.20 September 21, 2018 

                      4,950,000 0.20 November 8, 2018 

25,552,6493 
0.20 November 2, 20222 

 

Notes: 

1 The warrant expiry date is subject to earlier termination in the event that the market price of the Company’s common shares 

trading on the Canadian Securities Exchange remains at $0.30 or higher for a period of five (5) or more days, at the option 

of the Company.  

2 The Warrants expire on the earlier of (i) November 2, 2022 and (ii) the later of (A) November 2, 2019 and (B) 30 days 

following full repayment of a credit facility to BJK Holdings Ltd. but not later than 5 years from the issuance date. 

3 25,000,000 Warrants were issued to BJK Holdings Ltd. (the “Lender”) on November 2, 2018, however as a result of 

dilutive events and in accordance with the terms of the Warrants, the Lender holds 25,552,649 Warrants as at April 30, 

2018. 
 

Continuity of the Company’s finder/broker warrants is as follows: 
 

  Number 
Weighted average 

exercise price 

Balance, April 30, 2017 447,666 $0.17 

    Issuance – August 31, 2017 424,000 $0.10 

    Expired  (215,666) $0.25 

Balance, April 30, 2018 656,000 $0.10 

 
The above broker warrants have a weighted average remaining life of 0.54 years. 
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10. WARRANTS (continued) 
 
As at April 30, 2018, the Company had finder/broker warrants outstanding enabling holders to acquire the 
following: 
 

Number of  Exercise Price Expiry 

  warrants per Share ($) Date
 

424,000 0.10 August 31, 2018 

232,000 0.10 March 31, 2019 
 

11. STOCK OPTIONS AND RESTRICTED SHARE UNITS 
 

The Company adopted an incentive stock option plan (the "Option Plan"), which provides that the Board 

of Directors of the Company may from time to time, in its discretion, and in accordance with the 

applicable stock exchange’s requirements, grant to directors, officers, employees and consultants to the 

Company, non-transferable options to purchase common shares of the Company.  Following the Annual 

General and Special Meeting of the shareholders of the Company held on October 26, 2017 (the 

“AGSM”), pursuant to the Option Plan, the number of common shares reserved for issuance will not 

exceed 9.5% of the issued and outstanding common shares of the Company at the time of approval of 

the Option Plan.  Options granted under the Option Plan can have a maximum exercise term of 5 years 

from the date of grant.  Vesting terms will be determined at the time of grant by the Board of Directors.   
 

Following the AGSM, the Company adopted a Restricted Share Unit plan (the “RSU Plan”), which 

provides that the Board of Directors of the Company may from time to time, in its discretion, and in 

accordance with the applicable stock exchange’s requirements, grant to directors, officers, employees 

and consultants to the Company, non-transferable Restricted Share Units (“RSUs”).  The maximum 

number of RSUs will not exceed 6.3% of the issued and outstanding common shares of the Company at 

the time of approval of the RSU Plan.  Vesting terms will be determined at the time of grant by the 

Board of Directors but will in no event exceed three (3) years. 
 

On November 7, 2016, the Company granted 5,500,000 stock options to employees, consultants, 

directors and officers under its Stock Option Plan at an exercise price of $0.10 per share exercisable at 

any time on or before November 7, 2019. The fair value of these stock options is determined to be 

$203,024 using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the current assumptions of risk-free interest 

rate of 1.14%, expected life of 3 years, forfeiture rate of 0%, expected volatility of 225.74% and a 

dividend rate of 0%.   
 

On January 12, 2018, the Company granted 4,740,000 stock options to employees, consultants, directors 

and officers under its Stock Option Plan at an exercise price of $0.25 per share exercisable at any time 

on or before January 12, 2021. The fair value of these stock options is determined to be $948,447 using 

the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the current assumptions of risk-free interest rate of 1.80%, 

expected life of 3 years, forfeiture rate of 0%, expected volatility of 263.82% and a dividend rate of 0%.   
 

Continuity of the Company’s option is as follows: 
 

 
Number Weighted average exercise price 

Balance, April 30, 2017  5,500,000*            $    0.10 

    Issued- January 12, 2018 4,740,000*            $    0.25 

Balance- April 30, 2018 10,240,000*            $    0.17 

*Options exercisable as at April 30, 2018 – 10,240,000 

The above stock options have a weighted average remaining life of 2.07 years. 
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11. STOCK OPTIONS AND RESTRICTED SHARE UNITS (continued) 
 
As at April 30, 2018, the Company had options outstanding enabling holders to acquire the following: 
 

 

 Number of  Exercise Price Expiry 
   options per Share ($) Date 
 

 5,500,000 0.10 November 7, 2019 

  4,740,000                                                      0.25                             January 12, 2021   
 

On January 12, 2017 the Company issued 4,750,000 RSU’s under it's Restricted Share Unit plan as 

compensation for certain directors, officers and employees. On each applicable vesting date, each RSU 

allows the holder, at the option of the Company, to either acquire common shares of the Company equal 

to the value of the RSUs as at the date of vesting or be paid the monetary value of the RSUs as at the 

date of vesting, subject to applicable withholding taxes. The RSUs vest over two or three years, 

depending on the holder. The vesting dates are as follows: 

 

# of RSU Vesting Date 

1,833,333 January 12, 2019 

1,833,333 January 12, 2020 

1,083,334 January 12, 2021 

4,750,000   

 

The grant date fair value of the RSUs is $973,750 and is based on the market price of the Company’s 

common shares at the effective date of January 12, 2018. The amount will be recognized proportionally 

over the vesting periods: year one $637,710, year two $261,877 and year three $74,4163. For the year 

ended April 30, 2018, the Company recorded $188,693 of expense related to the RSUs as management 

fees. During the year ended April 30, 2018, no common shares of the Company were issued in respect to 

the RSU’s.   

 

12. INCOME TAX 

 

Year Ended Year Ended 

 

April 30, April 30, 

  2018 2017 

 

 $  $ 

Loss for the year   (6,425,689) (497,305) 
   

Expected income tax recovery at statutory rates of 27% 

(2017-26%) (1,734,936) (129,299) 
   

Net adjustments for amortization, deductible and other non- 

deductible items 1,275,065 49,630 

Effect of change in statutory tax rate 44,486 - 

Current and prior tax attributes not recognized  415,385 79,669 
   

                -                  -    
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12.  INCOME TAX (continued) 

 

 

Year Ended Year Ended 

 

April 30, April 30, 

 

2018 2017 

Deferred tax assets 

     Non-capital losses and capital loss carried forward  1,511,233 1,141,606 

   Mineral properties and others  105,248 15,004 

Less : Unrecognized deferred tax assets  (1,616,481) (1,156,610) 
   

Net deferred tax assets               -                  -    

 

At April 30, 2018, the Company has non capital losses carried forward for Canadian income tax purposes 

totalling approximately $5,362,000 which will expire from 2031 to 2038 and may be applied against future 

taxable income. The Company also has approximately $470,000 of capital losses that may be carried forward  

 

and applied against future capital gains. In addition, the Company has approximately $13,000 of exploration 

and development costs which are available for deduction against future income for tax purposes. At April 30, 

2018, the net amount which would give rise to a deferred income tax asset has not been recognized as it is not 

probable that such benefit will be utilized in the future years. 

 

13. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

 

Management compensations for the officers and directors during the years are disclosed as below: 

 

 
 

 

 

Year Ended April 30, 2018 Stock Options RSU

Consulting fees Gross Salaries Share Based Share Based

Paid Paid Compensation Compensation Total

Don Allan CEO & Director -$                     158,508$            450,212$            102,923$            711,643$       

Shannon Wyzykoski CFO 77,880$                -$                   20,009$              -$                   97,889$         

Chris Dovbniak Director -$                     -$                   50,024$              -$                   50,024$         

Doug Mackenzie Director -$                     -$                   50,024$              -$                   50,024$         

Mel Angeltvedt Director -$                     -$                   50,024$              -$                   50,024$         

Robin Ray Director -$                     -$                   50,024$              -$                   50,024$         

77,880$                158,508$            670,315$            102,923$            1,009,626$    

Year Ended April 30, 2017 Stock Options RSU

Consulting fees Gross Salaries Share Based Share Based

Paid Paid Compensation Compensation Total

Don Allan CEO & Director -$                     -$                   -$                   -$                   -$              

Shannon Wyzykoski CFO 13,838$                -$                   -$                   -$                   13,838$         

Chris Dovbniak Director -$                     -$                   18,500$              -$                   18,500$         

Doug Mackenzie Director -$                     -$                   18,500$              -$                   18,500$         

Mel Angeltvedt Director -$                     -$                   18,500$              -$                   18,500$         

Robin Ray Director -$                     -$                   18,500$              -$                   18,500$         

13,838$                -$                   74,000$              -$                   87,838$         
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13. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 

 

On September 21, 2017, the Company issued 300,000 units, each unit consisting of one common share 

and one half of one share purchase warrant, to settle debt of $30,000 to a company owned by the CFO 

pursuant to a private placement offering of units (Note 9).   
 

Office expense of $7,714, (2017 - $1,818), salaries and benefits of $34,537 (2017 - $27,866), rent 

expense of $19,377 (2017-$29,980) and telephone expense of $2,234 (2017 - $3,602) were charged back 

to 1888711 Alberta Inc., a company related by officers and directors (i.e. Don Allan).  
 

Transactions with related parties have been recorded at their exchange amounts, being the amounts 

agreed to and by the related parties.  
 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities balances at April 30, 2018 outstanding to officers and directors 

of the Company in the amount of $Nil (2017 - $22,245). 
 

Also, refer to Notes 7, 9, 10 and 11 for related party transactions. 

 

14. CAPITAL DISCLOSURES 

 

The Company’s objectives when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going 

concern, so that it can provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. The 

Company considers the items included in shareholders’ equity and cash as capital.  The Company 

manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in response to changes in economic conditions 

and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.  The Company’s primary objective with respect to 

its capital management is to ensure that it has sufficient cash resources to fund the identification and 

evaluation of potential acquisitions.  To secure the additional capital necessary to pursue these plans, the 

Company raise additional funds through the equity or debt financing. The Company is not subject to any 

capital requirements imposed by a regulator. The Company has not changed its approach in managing its 

capital during the year ending April 30, 2018. 

 

15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 

Risk Management 

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash, other receivable, accounts payable and accrued 

liabilities and short-term loans payable; the fair values of which are considered to approximate their 

carrying value due to their short-term maturities or ability of prompt liquidation. The long-term loan 

payables and convertible debentures were accounted for at amortized cost using the effective interest 

rate method with the effective interest rate of 12% to 18% per annum.  

 

The Company’s risk exposures and the impact on the Company’s financial instruments are summarized 

below:  

 

Strategic and operational risks are risks that arise if the Company fails to develop a renewable fuel 

refinery and/or to raise sufficient equity and/or debt financing in financing development.  These strategic 

opportunities or threats arise from a range of factors which might include changing economic and 

political circumstances and regulatory approvals and competitor actions. The risk is mitigated by 

consideration of other potential development opportunities and challenges which management may 

undertake. 
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15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a loss for the other party by 

failing to discharge an obligation. The Company is subject to normal industry credit risks. Therefore, the 

Company believes that there is minimal exposure to credit risk. 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with 

financial liabilities.  The Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will have 

sufficient liquidity to meet liabilities when due.  As at April 30, 2018, the Company had cash balance of 

$560,891 and working capital deficit of $965,274.  Management is considering different alternatives to 

secure adequate debt or equity financing to meet the Company short term and long term cash 

requirement.  

 

Interest risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes in 

market risk. For every one % change in the prime borrowing rate in Canada, the impact to the 

Company’s financial statements for the period ending April 30, 2018 is not significant.  

 

 Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Company holds no financial instruments that are   

denominated in a currency other than Canadian dollar. Therefore, the Company’s exposure to currency 

risk is minimal.  

 

Fair value 

The fair value of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities approximates the carrying amount. 

 

Financial instruments measured at fair value are classified into one of three levels in the fair value 

hierarchy according to the relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate the fair values. The three 

levels of the fair value hierarchy are: 

 

 Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
 Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or 

indirectly; and 

 Level 3 – Inputs that are not based on observable market data. 

 

The following is an analysis of the Company’s financial assets measured at fair value as at April 30, 

2018 and 2017: 

 

 As at April 30, 2018 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

 $ $ $ 

Cash       560,891 -   - 

 

 

 As at April 30, 2017 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

 $ $ $ 

Cash            106,110  -   - 
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16. SEGMENTED INFORMATION 

 
The Company operates in one reportable operating segment, being the refining of municipal and 

construction waste into a renewable diesel fuel in Canada.   As the operations comprise a single 

reporting segment, amounts disclosed also represent segment amounts. 

 

17. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 

On June 6, the Company announced the implementation of an early warrant exercise incentive program 

(the “Program”) designed to encourage the early exercise of up to 16,366,180 unlisted warrants. On July 

4, the Company announced that it had closed the Program. Cielo received gross proceeds pf $2,032,500 

as a result of the exercise of 10,162,500 warrants. Each participant is entitled to receive $0.0875 per 

warrant exercised as a fixed rate royalty which will be paid out prorate over an estimated period of two 

years or less, at the discretion of management. Once production begins, the company will allocate 10% 

of gross sales to the payment of the royalties.   

 

On July 4, the company announced that certain trade creditors elected to convert their trade debt in an 

aggregate amount of $313,725 into 1,960,871 common shares at a price of $0.16 per share.  

 

On July 17, 2018, 600,000 unexercised warrants issued on July 17, 2017 pursuant to a private placement 

offering of units, each units consisting of one common shares and one half of one share purchase 

warrant, expired. 

 

On Aug 3, the Company announced that it has received $289,000 form the exercise of 1,461,500 

warrants at an exercise price of $.20. On the same date, certain contractors elected to convert $100,246 

of trade payables into 477,363 shares at a price of $0.21 per share. 

 

On August 16, 2018, the Company issued 50,000 shares as a result of the exercise of 50,000 warrants at 

a price of $0.20 per warrant. 

 


